APPROVAL PAGE

Doctor of Philosophy Dissertation

Sedimentary Pigments as Biomarkers of Spatial and Seasonal Variations in Arctic Pelagic-Benthic Coupling

Presented by

Nathalie Morata, M.S.

Major Advisor Jourkellund

Paul E. Renaud

qualif Will iam Associate Advisor

William F. Fitzgerald

Associate Advisor

Michel Gosselin

(u

Associate Advisor

Daniel J. Repeta

tunche

Associate Advisor

Annelie Skoog

Acknowledgments

I would like to sincerely thank my advisor, Paul Renaud, for giving me the opportunity to work on this exciting project. Thank you for great scientific and personal discussions, for your encouragements, and for being always supportive with me, even with my most crazy ideas.

I want to thank Bill Fitzgerald, Michel Gosselin, Dan Repeta and Annelie Skoog for accepting to be part of my PhD committee. It has been an honor to have your various helps and advice along the road.

The CABANERA and CASES projects I participated in, not only permitted me to increase my scientific knowledge, but also to meet extraordinary colleagues and friends. I would like to express my sincere gratitude to Paul Wassmann, for all his efforts for making CABANERA a source of science and collaborations. I also want to thank all CABANERA participants, especially the mud team, as well as people from Tromsø in general, for their friendship, enthusiasm, and scientific collaborations. I especially want to thank Maria&Tobias, Jofrid&Arild and Lena&Sunje for not letting me sleep under the bridges of Tromsø. Thanks to JoLynn Caroll for hosting me at Akvaplan-niva.

My cruises in CASES were my first experience in the dark and cold Arctic, and it would not have let me such a great memory without the friendly atmosphere created by its participants, thank you all. I want especially to thank Sonia Brugel for always having good advice for me. I want to thank chief scientist Jody Deming for sharing with me her excitation about novel science, and for all her efforts to help me get mud. I want to thank Louis Fortier for creating and leading this project, and I especially want to thank him for inviting me many years ago in his lab and triggering my interest in Arctic research.

Many thanks to Michel Poulin for hosting me in his lab and trying to resolve the mystery of ice-algae in the sediment with me. Thanks also to all the people from the Museum of Nature of Ottawa, especially Christine McClelland, for their warm welcome.

I want to thank the many people who helped and shared their knowledge and experience about HPLC and pigments: Sylvia Bonilla, Alison Branco, Nancy Burn, Lee Cooper, Heidi Dierssen, Claudia Koerting, Connie Lovejoy, Marie-Josée Martineau, Georges McManus, Jason Perl, Alejandro Vargas and Warwick Vincent.

I want to thank the Department of Marine Sciences for hosting me. Thanks to all the graduate fellows and professors for these great 4 years. I want to thank the people who helped me with English and writing, especially Diane Bennett, Kim Gallagher, Emily Maung and

Sandra Shumway. Thank you to Bob Whitlatch and his team for sharing lab space. I also want to acknowledge the various collaborations (scientific and beyond) with the Vissher's lab. Finally thank you Hélène for betting with me.

I want to express my gratitude to Bernard Quéguiner and my previous "maîtres de stage", Philippe Picon, Laurence Pinturier, Philippe Querhervé, Odile Rambeau and Patrick Raimbault, for sharing with me their passion for research and increasing my willing to keep searching again and again.

All this would not have been possible without the constant support of my family and friends. Thank you all. And especially thank you Pascal for always believing in me.

This work was made possible by funding from Akvaplan-niva, ARCTOS, CABANERA, CASES, Canadian Museum of Nature, NSF, Sea Grant, UCONN, Graduate School, Department of Marine Sciences and Feng.

To the memory of Mimi and André Labarrère, Maire de Pau.

Table of contents

List of papers	. 1
1. Introduction and background	. 2
1.1 Climate change and carbon cycling in the Arctic Ocean	. 2
1.2 Primary production and fluxes	. 3
1.3 Pelagic-benthic coupling	. 4
2. Aim of this study	. 7
3. Study sites	. 8
3.1 Southeastern Beaufort Sea	. 8
3.2 Western Barents Sea	. 8
3.3 Comparison of the two sites	. 9
4. Methods	11
4.1 Ice, water column and sediment sampling for biomarker analysis	11
4.2 Sediment oxygen demand and benthic community composition	12
4.3 Stable isotopes and CHN analysis	13
4.4 Pigment analysis	13
5. Pigments as biomarkers	15
5.1 Photosynthetic pigments	15
5.2 Flux and degradation of pigments	16
5.3 Results obtained in this study	19

6. Effects of environmental factors	22
6.1 Water depth	22
6.2 Water masses and currents	23
6.3 Riverine inputs	24
7. Effects of biotic factors	25
7.1 Local water-column production	25
7.2 Productivity regime (phytoplankton vs. ice algae)	26
7.3 Grazing and bacterial degradation	28
7.4 Benthic communities	29
8. Concluding remarks	35
9. Overall significance and perspectives	37
10. References	39

List of papers

This thesis is based on the following papers, which are referred to by their Roman numerals I-VI and are presented as appendices.

- I. Morata N, Renaud PE (in press) Sedimentary pigments in the western Barents Sea: a reflection of the pelagic-benthic coupling? Deep-Sea Research II
- **II. Morata N**, Renaud PE, Brugel S, Hobson KA, Johnson BJ (submitted to Marine Ecology-Progress Series) Spatial and seasonal variations in the pelagic-benthic coupling of the southeastern Beaufort Sea revealed by sedimentary biomarkers
- III. Renaud PE, Morata N, Carroll ML, Denisenko SG, Reigstad M (in press) Pelagicbenthic coupling in the western Barents Sea: processes and time scales. Deep-Sea Research II
- IV. Renaud PE, Morata N, Ambrose WG, Bowie JJ, Chiuchiolo A (2007) Carbon cycling by seafloor communities on the eastern Beaufort Sea shelf. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 349:248-260
- V. Renaud PE, Riedel A, Michel C, Morata N, Gosselin M, Juul-Pedersen T, Chiuchiolo A (2007) Seasonal variation in benthic community oxygen demand: A response to an icealgal bloom in the Beaufort Sea, Canadian Arctic? Journal of Marine Systems 67:1-12
- **VI. Morata N**, Poulin M, Renaud PE (in preparation for Polar Biology) Does an input of icealgal phytodetritus to the sea floor automatically lead to an increase in sedimentary pigments?

Papers IV and V are reprinted with permission of Elsevier.

1. Introduction and background

1.1 Climate change and carbon cycling in the Arctic Ocean

Effects of global warming are expected to be enhanced in the polar regions, especially the Arctic. Mitchell et al. (1995) predicted temperature increase of 3-4°C in the Arctic during the next 50 years, which would lead to a substantial retreat of Arctic ice cover. From a permanently ice-covered region with multiyear ice, the Arctic Ocean would become ice-free during the summer (ACIA 2005, IPCC 2007). The sea ice cover is an important component of both the global and the Arctic climate system, modulating the exchange of heat and moisture between ocean and atmosphere, as well as stratification and winter deepwater formation (Johannessen & Miles 2000). Changes in ice cover will restructure some of carbon cycling pathways in the Arctic Ocean by affecting primary production.

Recent studies (Wheeler et al. 1996, Chen et al. 2002, Klein et al. 2002, Tremblay et al. 2002, Vidussi et al. 2004) have shown that primary production is much higher in the Arctic than previously believed. Total primary production in the Arctic Ocean contributes >329 Tg C y⁻¹ and most of it, 279 Tg C y⁻¹, occurs in the shelf areas (Sakshaug 2004). Ice algae contribute a large fraction of primary production in some areas on the Arctic (Gosselin et al. 1997, Arrigo 2003). A reduction in ice cover as a result of global warming will increase the relative importance of phytoplankton production.

Because of the ice-dependent character of Arctic primary production (see section 1.2 for more details), climate change is expected to affect both primary production and vertical fluxes by favouring phytoplankton production over ice algae (Carroll and Carroll 2003).

In addition to primary production, terrestrial organic matter is an important source of organic matter for the Arctic Ocean. The Arctic Ocean, on a volume basis, has the highest terrestrial input of freshwater and organic matter (10% of the global river discharge and 8% of the total global organic carbon flux, Maybeck 1993, Dittmar & Kattner 2003). Climate models suggest that global warming will affect riverine fluxes by intensifying the hydrological cycle (Peterson et al. 2002, Wu et al. 2005). The increased riverine organic matter fluxes will affect the entire Arctic carbon cycle.

In addition to the role of the continental margin as a source of terrestrial organic matter, the continental shelf is an important site for organic matter sedimentation and burial. Thirty percent of the world's continental shelves are found within the Arctic region (Macdonald et al. 1998), while the Arctic Ocean comprises only 1% of the global ocean area (Dittmar & Kattner 2003). These huge continental shelves represent an important sink of

carbon, since 70% of the total sediment input is accumulating there, and 7 to 11% of the world ocean organic carbon burial occurs in the Arctic Ocean (Stein & Macdonald 2004). The amount and composition of particulate organic matter preserved in the sedimentary records of the continental shelves are controlled by factors such as terrigenous input, primary production, transformation processes in the water column and at the seafloor as well as bulk sedimentation (Stein and Macdonald, 2004). Each of these factors can be affected by global warming, leading to changes in organic carbon burial.

1.2 Primary production and fluxes

Marine primary production in the Arctic is based principally on phytoplankton in the water column and microalgae associated with ice (Sakshaug 2004). Sea-ice microalgae generally occur at the bottom of the ice sheet, in contact with the underlying sea water (Michel et al. 1996, Nozais et al. 2001, Arrigo 2003, Lizotte 2003). Although the primary production rate by sea-ice algae is generally low compared to pelagic phytoplankton, it can be a main source of carbon for the food web in ice-covered regions (Gosselin et al. 1997, Nozais et al. 2001, Arrigo 2003).

Ice can also regulate primary production in the water column in other ways. Phytoplankton blooms are commonly associated with ice retreat in marginal ice zones (Froneman et al. 1997, Murphy et al. 1998, Goffart et al. 2000, Olli et al. 2002, Wassmann et al. 2005). When ice melts, the high input of fresh water increases stratification. These stable conditions, and the abundance of nutrients brought to the surface during winter mixing create optimal conditions for phytoplankton growth. Production at ice edges can be very high (Engelsen et al. 2002). Thus, ice margins and polynyas are highly productive ecosystems (Stirling 1981, Savidge et al. 1996, Rat'kova & Wassmann 2002, Reigstad et al. 2002, Leventer 2003, Ferreyra et al. 2004).

Although primary production determines the maximum concentration of organic carbon potentially available for the system, the flux of this energy toward higher pelagic trophic levels and toward the seafloor can be highly controlled by zooplankton grazing. Match and mismatch of zooplankton biomass with primary production rates can be responsible for variations in vertical flux of organic carbon, which might not always be proportional to primary production rates. When phytoplankton blooms and large zooplankton stocks coincide in space and time (i.e. match scenario), the grazing efficiency is high and sedimentation of intact phytoplankton cells is low. Conversely, when phytoplankton blooms and large zooplankton stocks are separated in time and space (i.e. mismatch scenario), grazing efficiency is lower and sedimentation large.

It has been suggested that ice abundance may influence whether there is a "match" or "mismatch" relation between primary production rate and grazing. The early ice-algal production and the episodic character of production in the Arctic (Wassmann et al. 1996), lead Carroll & Carroll (2003) to suggest a matching scenario in the case of limited ice, where carbon is mainly used and recycled in the water column. In the second scenario of abundant ice, primary production is dominated by ice algae, and herbivorous grazers and ice fauna are scarce. Ice fauna grazing has been suggested to inefficiently control ice-algal biomass (Werner 2000, Michel et al. 2002) resulting in higher vertical fluxes of organic matter, representing a potential food source for the benthos.

1.3 Pelagic-benthic coupling

The continental shelves of the various Arctic seas (Figure 1) can be sites of high production (Sakhaug 2004), and in some areas, much of this production falls to the bottom. In areas where conditions (light, nutrients) do not support local benthic primary production, benthic organisms depend primarily on organic matter derived from the euphotic zone. Some of the incoming organic matter is stored in benthic biomass and utilized for growth and maintenance of benthic populations, while some part is respired and remineralized by the benthos into CO_2 , dissolved organic carbon (DOC), and nutrients. In addition, a residual part of the carbon reaching the sea floor may be buried in the sediment and sequestered for millions of years (Figure 4).

The quality and abundance of particulate organic matter (POM) available for Arctic benthic communities is highly variable in space and time. Due to the importance of Arctic rivers (Figure 1), most of the POM reaching the sea floor on Arctic continental shelves is terrestrially derived and considered to be refractory, poor in nutritional quality (Dittmar & Kattner, 2003). However, in some areas where lateral transport and riverine input are negligible, the metabolism of the benthic community depends on local primary production (Klages et al. 2004). Surprisingly, the benthic carbon remineralization rates found on Arctic continental shelves are similar to those of lower latitudes (Glud et al. 1998, Rysgaard et al. 1998; Glud et al. 2000; Grant et al. 2002, Clough et al. 2005), suggesting that benthic remineralization is regulated primarily by the availability of organic matter and not by temperature. Moreover, in some regions, high benthic abundance, biomass and production reflect the production patterns of the overlying water column (Grebmeier et al. 1988,

Ambrose & Renaud 1995, Piepenburg et al. 1997b). This significant transfer of organic matter and the efficient assimilation by the benthic community (Grebmeier et al. 1988, Grebmeier & Barry 1991, Ambrose & Renaud 1995, Klages et al. 2004) suggest a tight pelagic-benthic coupling in Arctic ecosystems.

In summary, the amount and composition of organic matter preserved in the sedimentary record are controlled by factors such as terrigenous input, primary production, sedimentation rate, and transformation processes in the water column and in the sediment (e.g. anoxia, abundance of fauna). All these factors are highly variable and depend on the region, and are responsible for spatial and seasonal variations in pelagic-benthic coupling.



Figure 1. Map of the seas, major rivers and major polynyas in the Arctic Ocean. NEW: Northeast Water Polynya, NOW: North Water Polynya, CBP: Cape Bathurst Polynya. Adapted from AMAP (1998) and University of Texas Perry-Castaneda Library map collection.

2. Aim of this study

Global warming is expected to affect organic carbon production and cycling and, thus, the entire Arctic ecosystem. Characterizing and understanding factors responsible for variations in pelagic-benthic coupling is a key to better understanding the effects of global warming on Arctic ecosystems.

The overall goal of this dissertation was to use biomarkers of the origin and nutritional quality of POM to study its transfer from the water column to the benthos as a function of environmental and biological factors, such as ice conditions (presence/absence of ice), riverine input, and productivity regime. The main biomarkers were pigments, which are expected to reflect POM sources and degradation pathways. In addition, other biomarkers were also studied (stable carbon and nitrogen, percentages of carbon and nitrogen, diatom frustules), and sediment oxygen demand was used as indicator of benthic carbon cycling. This is the first time such a study was performed in the Arctic, and these different techniques helped addressing the following hypotheses:

H₁: Qualitative and quantitative differences in sedimentary pigments reflect changes in algal source and variation in organic matter flux to the seafloor.

This hypothesis was addressed for the Barents Sea in Papers I, for the Beaufort Sea in Paper II and for the winter/spring season in Paper VI.

H₂: Benthic carbon cycling depends on inputs of phytodetritus from overlying water.

This hypothesis was addressed for the Barents Sea in Papers III, for the Beaufort Sea in Paper IV, for the winder/spring season in Paper V.

H₃: Environmental factors (ice, current and river) and biological parameters (primary and secondary production) shape pelagic-benthic coupling differently in the Barents and Beaufort Seas

This hypothesis was addressed in all papers, in order to identify these factors. They are summarized in the present synthesis.

3. Study sites

This study included two study areas (Figure 2a). The southeast Beaufort Sea was studied four times (October/November 2003, January/February 2004, April/May 2004 and July/August 2004) during the Canadian Arctic Shelf Exchange Study (CASES) project funded primarily by Canada (Figure 2b). The Barents Sea was studied three times (summer 2003 and 2004, and spring 2005) during the Norwegian/EU funded "CArbon flux and ecosystem feedback in the northern BAreNts sea in an ERA of climate change (CABANERA)" project (Figure 2c).

3.1 Southeastern Beaufort Sea

The Beaufort shelf receives the outflow of the Mackenzie River, the fourth largest Arctic river in terms of freshwater discharge, and the largest in the world in terms of sediment supply (Macdonald et al. 1998). Much of this material is either buried or recycled on the wide continental shelf (Macdonald et al. 1998). Primary production rates are usually low and the area is mainly considered to be oligotrophic (Arrigo & Van Dijken 2004, Carmack et al. 2004). Although the area is generally ice-free from May to early October, the spring Cape Bathurst polynya and ice-associated algae could be a source of early-season primary production. In summary, carbon input to the southeast Beaufort Sea seafloor derives primarily from three sources: marine biological production, the Mackenzie plume, and coastal and seabed erosion (O'Brien et al. 2006).

The CASES project had 2 major components. The first included studies of the Mackenzie shelf, slope, Amundsen Gulf and Franklin Bay during fall 2003 and late spring/summer 2004. The second component followed the evolution of the system through an entire year. This was achieved by freezing an icebreaker into the annual shore-fast ice in western Franklin Bay (station 200, Figure 2b) over the winter at a water depth of 231 m, when this area is usually not accessible for regular scientific cruises. To allow sampling while frozen into the ice, the icebreaker was equipped with a "moon pool", an opening in the ship's hull. The project was international and covered physical, biological, chemical and geological oceanography.

3.2 Western Barents Sea

The western Barents Sea is influenced by Atlantic waters in the south and west, while Arctic waters penetrate from the north and east (Wassmann et al. 2006). Different water masses have different phytoplankton (Rat'kova & Wassmann 2002, Reigstad et al. 2002) and zooplankton (Colebrook 1985) compositions. Primary production in the Barents Sea is one of the highest among the Arctic shelf systems (Sakshaug & Slagstad 1992), and pelagic-benthic coupling may be particularly tight (Wassmann et al. 2006). As much as 50% of the primary production is exported from the surface and represents potential food for benthic organisms (Wexels Riser et al. in press). Much of the Barents Sea is a marginal ice zone (MIZ), which is defined as "that part of the ice cover which is close enough to the open ocean boundary to be affected by its presence" (Wadhams 1986). Therefore, inputs of organic matter to the benthos will vary spatially and temporally as a function of physical processes influencing patterns of ice melt in the region (Reigstad et al. 2002).

The CABANERA project focused on the Barents Sea continental shelf (200-500 m). The goal was to investigate how primary production, the biological pump, and pelagicbenthic coupling are regulated in spring and summer.

3.3 Comparison of the two sites

The Barents Sea represents a strong contrast to the Beaufort Sea. Primary production is expected to be higher in the Barents Sea than in the Beaufort Sea and to be strongly influenced by surrounding currents. In contrast, the Beaufort Sea is expected to be more oligotrophic than the Barents Sea and to be influenced by the Mackenzie River (Macdonald et al. 1998). However, both systems should show strong seasonal and spatial variations of POM inputs to the benthos. An important element of seasonal variation is expected to be due to productivity regime (phytoplankton vs. ice algae), while the riverine influence, currents and water depth might be responsible for spatial variations.



4. Methods

For both study sites, samples for biomarker analysis (pigments and isotopes) were collected in the water column and ice when present (Table 2). At each station, when possible, sediment was sampled for biomarker analysis (pigments and isotopes), for benthic community composition, and for sediment oxygen demand (SOD).

Method	Sample			Pa	iper			Reference
		I	Ш	III	IV	V	VI	
Pigment	Ice	\checkmark					\checkmark	Wright et al. (1991)
	Water column	\checkmark	\checkmark				\checkmark	Wright et al. (1991)
	Sediment (HPLC)	\checkmark	\checkmark				\checkmark	Chen et al. (2001)
	Sediment (Fluo)	\checkmark			\checkmark		\checkmark	Holm-Hansen et al. (1965)
Stable isotope	Water column							Hobson et al. (1995)
	Sediment		\checkmark				\checkmark	Hobson et al. (1995)
Sediment O ₂	Total				\checkmark			e.g. Clough et al. (2005)
Demand	Macrofauna free				\checkmark			Grant et al. (2002)
Diatom frustule	Sediment							Adapted from Hamilton et al. (2005)

 Table 2: Type of samples and method used in each study.

4.1 Ice, water column and sediment sampling for biomarker analysis

Suspended particulate organic matter was determined in the following manner: water from the water column chlorophyll maximum determined by an in vivo fluorescence probe was filtered onto precombusted (5 h at 500°C) Whatmann GF/F filters. Filters were stored at - 20°C prior to pigment and isotope analysis. During the CASES program, ice cores were collected with a manual corer (Mark II coring system, 9 cm internal diameter; Kovacs Enterprises). The bottom 4-10 cm of the cores were cut and melted in 1-5 L of 0.2 μ m filtered surface sea water to minimize osmotic stress (Garrison & Buck 1986). The melted cores were then filtered onto GF/F filters as for POM. During the CABANERA program, ice algae and ice detritus (IPOM) were collected from the underside of the ice by SCUBA divers using an electric suction pump as described by Tamelander et al. (2007). IPOM was filtered onto GF/F filters as described previously for POM.

Samples for organic carbon and nitrogen percentages (%C and %N), and stable isotope (δ^{15} N and δ^{13} C) analysis were collected with a truncated syringe from the top 2 cm of the sediment column. Samples were immediately frozen. Sediment cores (5 cm diameter×10 cm deep) were collected for determination of of sedimentary pigment concentration and composition profiles. Immediately after sampling, the sediment cores were extruded and sliced at 1 cm intervals under low light conditions. Each interval was divided in two, half to

be used for an estimate of chlorophyll *a* and total chloropigment concentration by fluorescence and half for determination of individual pigment concentration by high pressure liquid chromatography (HPLC). See section 4.4 for detail pigment analysis methodology. Both pigment sub-samples were wrapped in foil and frozen immediatly after slicing in order to avoid pigment degradation. The overall slicing procedure did not exceed 1-2 hours.

4.2 Sediment oxygen demand and benthic community composition

SOD was used as an indicator of benthic activity. Sediment cores (10 cm diameter $\times 20-25$ cm deep with as much overlying water preserved as possible, 3-12replicates per station) for SOD were collected with a multicorer during the CABANERA program, and sub-sampled from a spade corer (45 cm×45 cm) during the CASES program. Sediment cores were topped off with oxygenated bottom water and incubated in a cold room (<4°C). The measurement of SOD after addition of O₂ to reach 100% can be seen as measurement of the "potential sediment oxygen demand". However near-bottom oxygen concentrations were never below 2 ppm (i.e. hypoxia) and so differentiating potential from in situ sediment oxygen demand is probably not relevant in this study. Oxygen was monitored every 2-8 hours using a microelectrode (Unisense, A/S; Aarhus, Denmark) until 15-30% had been consumed (usually 24-48 h). The slope of the linear relationship between time and oxygen concentration was used as estimation of the SOD. In some cores, common large epifauna species were added in order to evaluate the oxygen consumption of individual organisms. Control cores with only bottom water were also incubated under the same conditions. After the end of incubations, sediment cores were sieved (1 mm) and macrofauna fixed in buffered 5% formalin in seawater and later preserved in 70% ethanol. Faunal composition of CABANERA samples was determined by taxonomic experts at the Russian Academy of Sciences Zoological Institute, St. Petersburg.

In order to estimate how much of the whole-core respiration was due to micro- and meio- fauna, additional incubations (minivials) were performed following procedures of Grant et al. (2002). Approximately 24 sub-cores (1.4 cm diameter×2 cm deep) were collected at each station with a truncated syringe. Visible macrofauna were removed as the sediment was transferred into pre-cleaned 24 mL glass scintillation vials. Vials were checked again afterward and replicates with macrofauna were rejected. Vials were filled with filtered (0.45 μ m) near-bottom water and the oxygen concentration in half the vials was determined using a microelectrode. The remaining vials were incubated in a cold room for 48–56 h (drop in O₂: 2-28%), after which the oxygen concentrations were determined. The difference between

readings at the beginning and end of the incubation was attributed to oxygen consumption by meiofauna, protozoa and bacteria. It is however important to keep in mind that these minivial incubations have been found to overestimate bacterial activity since exposure of the sediment to oxygenated waters can lead to break up of nutrient microgradients and redox conditions, and possibly enhance bacterial oxygen demand (Aller & Aller 1998, Dauwe et al. 2001, Grant et al. 2002). Once the minivial incubations were complete, samples were fixed for diatom-frustule analysis by withdrawing 2 mL of water and adding 2 mL of 37% buffered formaldehyde. Sedimentary diatom analyses were performed at the Canadian Museum of Nature, under the supervision of Dr. Michel Poulin, using an adaptation of the method of Hamilton et al. (2002).

Because estimates of epifaunal density are difficult to obtain from classical methods (i.e. sediment sieving), pictures of the surface sediment were taken during CASES. The underwater digital camera (Benthos, 1.2 megapixel resolution) and two strobes were mounted on a 1×1 m frame, equipped with a bottom-triggered shutter release. Organisms were identified and counted, and densities were scaled to values per square meter.

4.3 Stable isotopes and CHN analysis

Stable isotope analysis of the suspended particulate organic matter (i.e. POM filters) were performed after acidification for removing inorganic carbon, by the National Hydrology Research Institute in Saskatoon, Saskatchewan, Canada, using the method of Hobson et al. (1995). Frozen sediment samples for stable isotope analysis were dried at 60°C overnight. In order to decalcify sub-samples for carbon analysis, about 2 g of dry, homogenised sediment were placed in a crucible, 2 mL of 1 N HCl was added, and the sample was dried overnight. The operation was repeated 3 times, or until no bubbling occurred after acid addition. In order to avoid the carbon isotopic signature of carbonate, the decalcified sediment was used for %C and δ^{13} C determination. However, since acidification can alter the nitrogen isotope composition, undecalcified samples were used for %N and δ^{15} N analysis. Stable isotope analysis of sediments was performed by the Environmental Geochemistry Laboratory, Department of Geology, Bates College, U.S. Some of the decalcified sub-samples were also used for CHN analysis on a Fisons model 1108 CHN Analyzer with acetanilide as a standard.

4.4 Pigment analysis

Concentrations of individual pigments in POM and ice samples were determined by HPLC (Wright et al. 1991). Concentrations of sedimentary pigments were determined using

both HPLC (Chen et al. 2001) and fluorometry (Holm-Hansen et al. 1965). Ice samples and POM filters were extracted in 2 mL of 100% HPLC-grade acetone for 12-24 h. Extracts were filtered through 0.2- μ m-pore-size nylon syringe filters. Freeze-dried sediment (1-3 g) was transferred to a 50 mL polypropylene centrifuge tube where 8 mL of 80:20 (v:v) HPLC grade acetone:methanol was added. The mixture was sonicated for 5 minutes in an ice bath and extracted in the freezer overnight. Extracts were separated from the sediment by centrifugation (10 min, 2000 rpm) and 5 mL of the supernatant was filtered through a 0.2- μ m-pore-size syringe filter. Extracts were blown to dryness under nitrogen, and then redissolved in 250 μ l of 90% acetone in water.

Quantitative analysis of all pigments was conducted with a Waters HPLC equipped with an online photodiode array (Waters 996 PDA) and fluorescence detector (Waters 616) with excitation set at 440 nm and emission at 660 nm. Two hundred μ l of each sample were injected through a guard column to a reversed-phase Alltech Absorbsphere C18 column (5 μ m particle size; 250×4.6 nm i.d.). The 3-step gradient program was a modification of Wright et al. (1991) as described by Chen et al. (2001) for enhancing the separation of chlorophyll degradation products, also called phaeopigments.

Identification of pigments was performed by comparing retention time and spectra from photodiode array (PDA) detector of samples (See Appendix 7 for an example) with standards (DHI Water and Environment, Denmark, Appendices 8 and 9). Carotenoids were quantified using absorbance at 438 nm using the PDA detector, while chlorophylls and phaeopigments were quantified on the fluorescence detector (excitation 440 nm, emission 660 nm). The response factor (RF) was determined for each pigment from single run of each pigment standard.

Within two weeks of sample collection, total pigment concentrations were determined in sub-samples of sediment by fluorometry. The samples were placed in 60 mL centrifuge tubes, and 20 mL of 100% acetone was added. Tubes were stored at -20°C in the dark for 48h, and shaken periodically. Prior to fluorescence determination, the sediment was centrifuged (4000 rpm for 10 minutes at 0°C). The fluorescence of the supernatant was determined using a Turner Designs Model 10-AU fluorometer (excitation 440 nm, emission 660 nm) before and after acidification with 5% HCl (Holm-Hansen et al. 1965), in order to determine chlorophyll *a* (chl *a*) and phaeopigments (phaeo).

5. Pigments as biomarkers

5.1 Photosynthetic pigments

Pigments are bound in pigment-protein complexes. Chlorophylls are a combination of cyclic complexes with a magnesium ion in the center (also called Mg-phorbin ring) and a long-chain isoprenoid alcohol ester group (also referred to as phytol chain, Figure 3a). Carotenoids are hydrocarbons consisting of eight isoprenoid units (carotenes) and their oxygenated derivatives (xanthophylls) (Figure 3b).



Figure 3. Chemical structure of (A) chlorophyll a and (B) fucoxanthin (carotenoid).

Pigments are present in all photosynthetic organisms and function primarily as lightharvesting agents for photosynthetis and for photo-protection (Porra et al. 1997). Chl *a* is the most common pigment, but other kinds of closely related chlorophylls and carotenoids also exist. While chl *a* is common to all algal species, many other accessory pigments are present in the different organisms and often have a restricted taxonomic distribution (Table 1). Thus pigments are useful as biomarkers of the algal groups responsible for primary production due to their taxonomic specificity (Jeffrey et al. 1997).

Preservation of pigments in sediment is generally favored by high plankton production, high sedimentation rates, and anoxia, the three main features of eutrophic basins (Schulte et al. 1999, Kowalewska et al. 2004). Thus, sedimentary pigments have been used in short-term and long-term studies of marine ecosystem changes, such as changes in organic matter production (Harris et al. 1996), eutrophication (Chmura et al. 2004, Kowalewska et al. 2004), and cyanobacterial blooms (Bianchi et al. 2000, Poutanen & Nikkilä 2001), as well as

in larger-scale studies of sea level (Squier et al. 2003) and hydrodynamic changes (Zhao et al. 2000, Kowalewska 2001). In the Arctic, production can be very high, major phytoplanktonic groups can change spatially and seasonally, and downward fluxes can also be high. This makes pigments good candidates for studying pelagic-benthic coupling dynamics in Arctic systems. HPLC techniques represent the best way to study sedimentary pigments, since they allow separation of various chlorophylls, carotenoids and their degradation products (Sun et al. 1991, Sun et al. 1994, Kowalewska 1995, Bianchi et al. 1997, Kowalewska et al. 1998, Kowalewska et al. 2004). Few studies have investigated sedimentary chl *a* and phaeopigments by fluorometry in the Arctic (see summary in **Paper I**). The study of other pigments by HPLC has, to my knowledge, never been performed in Arctic marine sediments.

Table 1. Summary of pigments recovered in the water column and in sediment and their provenance. Compiled from Jeffrey et al. (1997) and Leavitt & Hodgson (2001). The relative degree of chemical stability and preservation is ranked from most (1) to least (4) stable. Pigments with the least stability are rarely found in the sediment. The predominant source is identified as planktonic (P), littoral (L), terrestrial (T) or sedimentary (S, post-depositionnal derivatives); upper case letter indicates the guantitatively more important sources, while lower case a less important source. - = not determined.

Pigment	Major groups or process	Stability	Source
Chlorophylls			
Chlorophyll <i>a</i>	All photosynthetic algae, higher plants	3	ΡL
Chlorophyll b	Green algae, euglenophytes, higher plants	2	ΡL
Chlorophyll c family	Dinoflagellates, diatoms, chrysophytes	1	ΡI
Carotenoids			
β-Carotene	Most algae and plants	1	PLt
Fucoxanthin	Diatoms, prymnesiophytes, chrysophytes, raphidophytes, several dinoflagellates	2	ΡL
Peridinin	Dinoflagellates	4	Р
Alloxanthin	Cryptophytes	1	Р
19'But-fucoxanthin	Prymnesiophytes, chrysophytes	-	ΡL
19'Hex-fucoxanthin	Prymnesiophytes	-	Р
Zeaxanthin	Cyanobacteria, prochlorophytes, rhodophytes, chlorophytes	1	ΡI
Chlorophyll degradatio	n products		
Phaeophytin <i>a</i>	Chlorophyll a derivative (general)	1	PLts
Phaeophytin <i>b</i>	Chlorophyll b derivative (general)	2	PLts
Phaeophorbide a	Grazing, senescent diatoms	3	Pls
Pyro-phaeo(pigment)	Derivatives of a and b-phaeopigments	2	LS

5.2 Flux and degradation of pigments

Pigments are degraded in the aquatic environment by biological processes (Figure 4), as well as chemical and photochemical processes, and in the water column (Cuddington & Leavitt 1999) and following deposition in the sediment (Hodgson et al. 1998). Chlorophylls

contain nitrogen and are therefore more prone to degradation than carotenoids. Within the water column, pigment degradation is usually very rapid and extensive (hours to weeks, Figure 4). In the sediment, chl *a* has a half life of several weeks (Graf et al. 1995).



Figure 4. Main biological pathways of pigment production in the "algal pool", transformation and degradation in the Arctic marine ecosystem. Most degradation of pigments occurs during deposition through the water column and in the surface sediments. Note that the scale of the effect of benthic activity is not well defined, and is addressed in this study.

The fate of pigments in Arctic sediments is not fully understood. Smith et al. (in press) suggested the existence of a "foodbank" for Antarctica. This foodbank consists of organic matter maintained in the sediment throughout the year, and thus available to the benthos during low depositional periods. Another explanation consists of fast response to POM inputs, especially to spring ice-algae inputs, as discussed in **Paper V**. The benthic

activity increases as soon as fresh POM reaches the sea floor. A third option would be a combination of the two previous hypotheses, where the benthos responds quickly to inputs, but a part of the carbon arrival is stocked in the sediment and can be use through the entire year, as suggested in **Papers II** and **VI**.

Different pathways of pigment degradation affect the integrity of the Mg-phorbin ring, the phytol chain, or both, and result in different degradation products (Figure 5). Formation of phaeophorbide is mainly due to herbivore activity, chlorophyll is degraded to chlorophyllide by chlorophyllase during cell senescence, and phaeophytin is formed during herbivory, cell senescence, and microbial degradation.



Figure 5. Production of the 3 main colored chlorophyll derivatives under oxic conditions: chlorophyllide, phaeophytin and phaeophorbide. Adapted from Leavitt (1993).

To summarize, relative abundance of sedimentary chl *a* is a marker of the freshness of algal matter inputs to the sediment (Boon & Duineveld 1996), sedimentary accessory pigments specific for different algal groups can be used as taxonomic markers (Gieskes & Kraay 1984, Jeffrey & Vesk 1997), and degradation products indicate physiological status

and nature of chlorophyll processing organic matter has undergone (Mantoura & Llewellyn 1983, Villanueva & Hastings 2000).

5.3 Results obtained in this study

As expected, the study of sedimentary pigments by HPLC allowed the separation of various chlorophylls, carotenoids, and pigment degradation products. The chl *a* results from the HPLC method correlated strongly with the results from the fluorometric method (Figure 6, **Papers I, II and VI**).

The main sedimentary accessory pigments found in all studies were chlorophyll b (chl b), a marker of green algae, and fucoxanthin, a marker of diatoms



Figure 6: Comparison of the results of sedimentary chlorophyll *a* content (0-2 cm) by Fluorometer and HPLC analysis for the Beaufort (CASES) and Barents (CABANERA) seas.

(**Papers I, II and VI**). Other accessory pigments were also found in the sediment, and an even larger number of pigments were identified in water column and ice (**Papers I and II**). The large number of pigments found in water and ice samples is likely due to the fact that in the water column and ice, degraded pigments were usually not very abundant, while in the sediment, degradation products were sometimes extremely abundant, and could have masked other pigment signals. This is illustrated in the Figure 7, where, for the same station, the chromatogram of the water column POM presents distinct peaks, and easily identifiable spectra, while the chromatogram in the two first cm of sediment presents many more peaks of unidentified degradation products.

Sedimentary chl *a* abundance showed strong correlations with local primary production and fluxes (**Papers I, II, III and IV**), and was inversely correlated with depth (**Papers II, III and IV**). Moreover chl *a* abundance was also correlated with benthic activities (**Papers III and IV**). The ratio of chl *a* to total phaeopigment concentrations (chl a/phaeo) was also used as an indicator of the freshness of sedimentary organic matter.



Figure 7. Characteristic pigment chromatogram from (A) a POM sample and (B) a 0-1 cm sediment slice from station 100, CASES, fall 2003. In the POM sample, main peaks are easily identifiable. In contrast, in sediment, peaks overlap and the chromatogram includes many unidentified degradation products. Absorbance signals were detected at 438 nm using a PDA detector. Note that the retention time for the same compounds differ between the chromatograms, because different gradients were used.

Fucoxanthin, a marker of diatoms, was by far the most abundant accessory pigment found in ice, water column, and sediment. Although it is impossible to differentiate icederived diatoms from phytoplankton diatoms from their similar pigment signature, it was hypothesized in **Papers I** and **II** that a part of sedimentary fucoxanthin derived from ice. **Paper VI** suggested that this hypothesis was valid as fresh intact ice-algal cells were found in the surface sediment of the Beaufort Sea when ice-algal biomass increased in the spring.

Other accessory pigments were used as taxonomic markers of various phytoplankton groups. Moreover the use of the CHEMTAX program (Mackey et al. 1996) allowed us to relate the water column pigment composition to phytoplankton taxonomic composition. In the Beaufort Sea for example, the three major phytoplanktonic groups (>90% total groups) determined by CHEMTAX were diatoms, green algae (prasinophytes + chlorophytes classes) and haptophytes (prymnesiophytes). In the cell counts, the major classes found were diatoms, prasinophytes, prymnesiophytes and flagellates (Poulin et al. pers. comm.). Lovejoy et al. (2007) found that *Micromonas*-like picoprasinophytes were very abundant in the Western

Arctic, which suggests that an important part of the flagellates found in the Beaufort Sea could be prasinophytes. Paired t-tests between the CHEMTAX and cell-count results showed no significant difference (p>0.05) of the total percentages of diatoms and green algae in summer and fall, and no difference for the haptophytes in the summer. Haptophyte percentages were however significantly different in the fall. A part of the cell count might have ignored some haptophytes counted as "flagellates". The comparison of CHEMTAX with cell counts is hard to perform because of the difference of the different limitations of identification for each group and class for both techniques. However, although the use of CHEMTAX is somewhat controversial, the results obtained in both the Barents and Beaufort Seas (**Papers I and II**) gave similar results as microscope cell counts for the major groups.

Both pigment signature and CHEMTAX results showed that small flagellated cells such as prasinophytes and prymnesiophytes were important during the fall in the Beaufort Sea (**Paper II**). In the Barents Sea, green algae (which includes prasinophytes) and prymnesiophytes were influenced by the predominant water-mass (Arctic or Atlantic water were the predominant water mass) (**Paper I**). Degradation products of chl *b* were used to track riverine influence (**Paper II**).

Finally, phaeophorbide and carotenol chlorine esters (CCE) were used as markers of macrozooplankton and macrobenthos grazing (**Papers I, II and VI**). CCE are created during grazing processes by a combination of carotenoid and phaeophorbide (Goericke et al. 1999, Soma et al. 2001, Chen et al. 2005), and were only recently identified. It was thus extremely interesting to find them in the sediment of the Barents Sea as a marker of diatom grazing (**Paper I**). It is important to note that although phaeophorbides have been used to trace grazing processes in both the water column (Jeffrey 1974, Carpenter et al. 1986, Spooner 1994) and the sediment (Brotas and Plante-Cuny 1998, Riaux-Gobin 2000) it has recently been argued that it might not always be a relevant indicator of herbivorous activities (Villanueva and Hastings 1999, Ford and Honeywill 2002). However the correlation of phaeophorbide with CCE in the Barents Sea (**Paper I**) and with macrozooplankton fecal pellets in the Beaufort Sea (**Paper II**) confirmed the reliability of this pigment as marker of grazing.

This work found sedimentary pigments to reflect changes in environmental factors, in sources of organic matter, in food web structure, and in benthic activity. Although useful information is gained from the pigment patterns alone, the addition of other biomarkers, such as stable isotopes and diatoms frustules, allowed further elucidation of factors influencing spatial and seasonal changes in pelagic-benthic coupling.

6. Effects of environmental factors

The present study in the Beaufort and Barents Seas highlighted three major abiotic factors affecting pelagic-benthic coupling: water depth, water masses, and riverine input. Not surprisingly, these factors had very different impacts in the two ecosystems. Depth and riverine inputs were important n the Beaufort Sea (**Papers II, IV and VI**) while in the Barents Sea, oceanic source waters seemed more important in determining organic matter inputs to the benthos (**Papers I and III**).

6.1 Water depth

Previous studies pointed out the importance of depth for determining the quality and quantity of organic matter reaching the benthos in marine systems, both polar (e.g., Grebmeier 1993) and temperate (e.g., Suess 1980). In the Arctic, increasing depths have been correlated with decreasing sedimentary chl *a* (Ambrose & Renaud 1995, Grahl et al. 1995, **Paper II**), decreasing SOD (Pfannkuche & Thiel 1987, Ambrose & Renaud 1995, Piepenburg et al. 1995, Glud et al. 2000, Clough et al. 2005, **Paper IV**), and changes in benthic community composition (Grebmeier et al. 1988, Clough et al. 1997, Piepenburg 2005, Conlan et al. in press). Shallower depths seemed to be associated with shorter pelagic food chain (Grebmeier et al. 2006), probably allowing greater inputs of organic matter of better quality. Indeed, sedimentary chl *a*, chl *a*/phaeo ratio, and SOD were higher in the shallower Mackenzie shelf than in the surrounding deeper environment (Tables 2, 3, **Papers II and IV**). For a given water depth, sediment type and water column nutrient regime, benthic macrofaunal biomass in the Arctic appears to be greater than at lower latitudes (Petersen & Curtis 1980, Rowe 1983), suggesting a stronger pelagic-benthic coupling in the Arctic.

Pronounced depth zonation has been found in the composition and distribution of benthic assemblages, leading Piepenburg (2005) to separate 3 distinct zones: shelf, slope, and basin. This concept was used in **Paper II**. However, even though the study areas are defined by water depths, differences are not the result of just one single factor, but several direct and indirect depth-dependent ecological processes (Carney et al. 1983). Indeed, water depth can have an influence on factors such as mixed layer depth, current speed, ice cover, primary production, bacterial degradation, and sea floor sediment properties, which are often interrelated (Piepenburg et al. 2001). This means that although pressure, directly related to water depth, can impact benthic organisms (Somero et al. 1983), it is most likely the inverse

relationship between water depth and sedimentation rates that explains the fundamental influence of water depth on the quality and quantity of organic matter reaching the sea floor (Graf 1992). Surprisingly, in the Barents Sea, depth did not seem to be an important factor for determining benthic activity and sediment properties (**Papers I and III**), depth range was too narrow to make correlations (200-350 m, station 8 was at 500 m).

6.2 Water masses and currents

In addition to depth zonation, current regime has been found to be the most prominent feature in the distribution of some Arctic assemblages (Piepenburg 2000). Currents can directly influence carbon source and fate by bringing allochthonous organic matter to the system in water (Feder et al. 1994) or ice (Reimnitz et al. 1993). Alternatively, currents can export organic material, making it unavailable for the local benthos. Allochthonous terrestrial inputs have been found to balance the overall carbon demand in the Laptev Sea (Schmid et al. 2006), and off-shelf export has been suggested to feed communities of the deep Arctic basin during some seasons (Moran et al. 2005). Thus, the prevailing water masses and currents in the area are important in determining the potential characteristics of food deposition to the benthos and can have significant impacts on local and regional carbon cycling pathways.

As noted, the Barents Sea is influenced by warm Atlantic Water in the south and by Arctic Water in the north (Figure 2c). These water masses have different phytoplankton compositions (Rat'kova & Wassmann 2002, Reigstad et al. 2002), which were reflected in the sedimentary pigment composition (**Paper I**). The effect of dominant water mass on phytoplankton composition has also been observed in the Chukchi Sea where changes in phytoplankton species and water-column pigment composition due to water mass variations (Hill et al. 2005) were apparent in the sedimentary pigment composition (Pirtle-Levy et al. in press).

In the Beaufort Sea, an upwelling off Cape Bathurst is suspected to be responsible for areas of elevated benthic biomass (Conlan et al. in press). Sedimentary chl *a* concentrations and the chl *a*/phaeo ratio were higher in this area (see Figure 2 a,c, station 300 of **Paper II**). This increase of benthic biomass in upwelling areas is similar to sites in the Chukchi Sea, where upwelling of nutrient-rich waters causes high primary production and sustained high benthic biomass (Grebmeier et al. 1988, Grebmeier & Barry 1991).

6.3 Riverine inputs

As mentioned previously, about 10% of the global river discharge enters the Arctic Ocean, which is only 1% of the world ocean water (Dittmar & Kattner 2003). Despite pronounced seasonal patterns, organic matter concentrations in Arctic rivers are generally among the highest in the world, while nutrient concentrations are among the lowest (Dittmar & Kattner 2003). Terrigenous organic carbon inputs into the Arctic Ocean are mainly due to the particulate organic carbon discharged by river (80% of total organic carbon flux). Coastal erosion contributes about 15% of the terrigenous organic carbon, with the rest due to underground water discharge, sea-ice input, and eolian deposition (Rachold et al. 2004). The Barents Sea did not show markers of riverine inputs (Papers I and III), probably because river inputs and sediment load are substantially lower in the Barents Sea than on other Arctic shelves (Rachold et al. 2004). Isotopic signatures typical of terrestrial organic matter and freshwater algae have been found in the sediment of the Kara Sea (Fernandes & Sicre 2000, Fahl et al. 2003, Polyakova 2003, Stein et al. 2004), Laptev Sea (Cremer 1999, Matthiessen et al. 2000), and Beaufort Sea (Paper II and references within), influenced by the Yeniseva and Ob', the Lena, and the Mackenzie Rivers, respectively (Figure 1). Moreover, the sedimentary pigment composition (chl b degradation products) corroborated the terrestrial isotope signature in the Beaufort Sea (Paper II). However, most of the imported fluvial organic matter is usually fairly degraded (Stein 1996, Fahl et al. 2001, Paper II), and likely represents low-quality food for the benthos. Thus, although riverine inputs are important for the pelagic-benthic coupling and impact bulk organic inputs to the sediments, they do not seem to be an important food resource for benthic communities in the Arctic (Klages et al. 2004).

7. Effects of biotic factors

Environmental factors often control variations in biological factors. In the Barents Sea, for example, water masses seemed to play an indirect role in pelagic-benthic coupling by influencing phytoplankton composition in the summer. However, biological parameters including primary production, phytoplankton taxonomy, and zooplankton grazing seemed to predominate in shaping pelagic-benthic coupling over time.

7.1 Local water-column production

Previous studies on Arctic ecosystems have suggested local autochthonous primary production as the major factor determining sedimentary chl *a* and SOD (Pfannkuche & Thiel 1987, Ambrose & Renaud 1995, Piepenburg et al. 1997a, Grant et al. 2002, Bessière et al. 2007). In the deep Arctic Ocean, sedimentary chl *a* and SOD were lower than on the Arctic shelves (Clough et al. 2005). They are also lower than on the NE-Atlantic abyssal plain (Pfannkuche 1992), reflecting limited primary production under the permanent ice cover (Boetius & Damm 1998, Soltwedel & Schewe 1998).

Although sedimentary chl a and SOD were not correlated with depth in the Barents Sea, they were correlated with overlying biomass of primary producers and vertical fluxes in both the Barents and Beaufort Seas (**Papers I, II and III**). For similar depths (>200 m), sedimentary pigments and SOD were usually higher in the Barents Sea (**Papers I and III**) than in the Beaufort Sea (**Papers II and IV**). Primary production rates in the Barents Sea and the Bering/Chukchi Sea are among the highest in the Arctic (see review by Sakshaug 2004), and sedimentary pigments reflect this by exhibiting high contents of chl a and high chl a/phaeo ratios (Table 3). Although sedimentary chl a and SOD at depths >200 m in the southeastern Beaufort Sea were lower than in more productive ecosystems, values in the shallower areas of the Mackenzie shelf were comparable with other Arctic shelves (Table 3).

An important feature of primary production in the Arctic Ocean is its strong episodic character (Wassmann et al. 1996), leading to important temporal/seasonal variations in addition to the spatial variations addressed previously. Seasonal variations in abundance and composition of sedimentary pigments were observed in both the Barents and Beaufort Seas (**Papers I, II and VI**). In the Beaufort Sea, the chl *a*/phaeo ratios were higher in the summer compared to the fall, representing a material less degraded and thus "fresher". In the spring study (**Paper V**), SOD increased through time, while chl *a* did not. Other sedimentary pigments, markers of phytoplankton taxonomy (section 7.2) and pigment degradation

(Section 7.3), provided insights regarding the benthic response to the spring pulse of organic matter (**Paper VI**). In the Barents Sea, chl a and SOD did not show significant differences between spring and summer, although accessory-pigment composition reflected seasonal changes in productivity regime (section 7.2).

Seasonal variations are often due to changes in ice-associated production and this will be discussed below. Chl *a* and SOD can reveal spatial variations in pelagic-benthic coupling due to changes in total algal biomass. However in order to track changes in primary producers, the only study of chl *a* and SOD is not sufficient and other pigments have to be identified by HPLC.

7.2 Productivity regime (phytoplankton vs. ice algae)

Variation in ice cover indirectly impacts organic matter inputs by its influence on icealgal production. Sea-ice algae have been found to contribute considerably to total primary production in polar seas (Legendre et al. 1992, Gosselin et al. 1997) and to be dominated by diatoms (von Quillfeldt et al. 2003, Hill et al. 2005). Sea-ice algal production is particularly favoured in the spring, when sea ice has not melted yet and light is sufficient. It can also indirectly impact the overall water column production. The release of ice algae into the water column by ice melt is commonly associated with phytoplankton blooms (Leventer 2003) suggesting that sea-ice algae may serve as the seeding population for bloom onset (Syvertsen 1991, Gradinger 1999). In the present study, primary producers occurring directly within the ice and in the underlying water due to ice-algae inoculums are referred to as "ice-associated algae".

Ice-associated algae can sink, representing a potential source of food for the benthos. Frustules of ice-associated algae have been found in the sediment of Arctic shelves (Sancetta 1981, Cremer 1999, Djinoridze et al. 1999, Polyakova 2003, Ambrose et al. 2005, **Paper VI**, Figure 8) or their presence has been indicated by high concentrations of chl *a* and/or fucoxanthin (Schewe & Soltwedel 2003, Pirtle-Levy et al. in press, Papers I, II, VI). Moreover, indications that benthic organisms can derive energy directly from ice algae have been observed (Hobson et al. 1995, McMahon et al. 2006, Papers V, VI). However, while SOD correlated with increased ice-algal production (**Paper V**), it was unclear how sedimentary pigments were reflecting this episodic input of ice algae to the sediment of the Beaufort Sea, and this will be discussed in section 7.4.



A. January 14, Pseudogomphonema arcticum

B. April 29, Navicula valida



C. April 29, Nitzschia frigida

D. May 9, Fragilariopsis cylindrus



E. May 9, Navicula pelagica

F. May 9, Fossula arctica

Figure 8. Photography of ice-algae frustules found in the sediment of Franklin Bay during CASES overwintering.

The importance of diatoms in the ice-associated algal community was noted earlier. They are also major producers throughout the Arctic (Hill 2005), and were found to dominate in the summer on the Mackenzie shelf (**Paper II**), and associated with sea ice in the Barents Sea (**Paper I**). The significance of diatoms during the summer was indicated by the high levels of fucoxanthin in the Beaufort Sea (**Paper II**), Barents Sea (**Paper I**), and in the Bering/Chukchi Sea (Pirtle-Levy et al. in press). It was interesting, however, to find that in the summer, other phytoplankton species were important in the Amundsen Gulf area and the Beaufort Sea (**Paper II**). As discussed earlier, the different phytoplankton taxonomy in the Barents Sea can be largely attributed to the influence of variations in the dominant watermass. Atlantic waters contain more prymnesiophytes (Wassmann et al. 2005), whereas Arctic waters contain more green algae (Not et al. 2005). In the Cape Bathurst polynya (Figure 2b), early melting of ice probably leads to an earlier growing season as in other polynyas (Smith et al. 1997). Thus, in the summer, although the surrounding areas are at their peak of production with diatoms as dominant group, the Cape Bathurst polynya is already in postbloom condition, with smaller cells.

In the fall, small algal cells seem to predominate algal population in Arctic waters. Traditionally, Arctic marine production has been thought to be dominated by large phytoplankton (von Quillfeldt 1997). However, recent studies have shown that picophytoplankton can be abundant in late summer/fall (Not et al. 2005, Lovejoy et al. 2006). Indeed, haptophytes and prasinophytes were dominant in the water column of the Beaufort Sea (**Paper II**). This was also found in the accessory pigment composition in the sediment. Interestingly, and contrary to previous thoughts, small cells seem to sink relatively fast (Richardson & Jackson 2007, **Paper II**), and might be a significant late-season source of food for the benthos.

7.3 Grazing and bacterial degradation

The match or mismatch of high zooplankton biomass with phytoplankton blooms determines the fate of the produced organic carbon, which can be either retained in the water column or exported to the bottom (Wassmann 1991, Wassmann et al. 1996). Thus grazing by zooplankton can have a strong impact on pelagic-benthic coupling by shaping the magnitude and composition of the vertical particle flux (Olli et al. 2002, Wexels Riser et al. in press). Large copepods of the genus *Calanus* are important grazers on phytoplankton in all Arctic seas. Grazing by macro- and meso- zooplankton has been found to degrade chl a to phaeophorbide a, so sedimentary phaeophorbide a was used in the present study to estimate abundance of zooplankton-degraded organic matter. In the Barents Sea sediment, phaeophorbide a was the most abundant phaeopigment (**Paper I**), and input of grazed material was the highest in the summer. The stations where fecal pellets represented the highest proportion of carbon flux (Wexels Riser et al. in press) also had the highest

sedimentary phaeophorbide *a* content. Moreover, the presence of CCE, a combination of phaeophorbide and fucoxanthin, suggested the importance of grazing on diatoms, and perhaps on ice-associated diatoms. In the spring, material reaching the benthos had higher chl *a*/phaeo ratio, and thus a higher nutritional quality (**Paper I**). SOD was also higher (**Paper III**), suggesting that the mismatch of zooplankton and phytoplankton in the spring allows inputs of higher quality organic matter to the sea floor, where the benthos responds by increasing activity.

In the Beaufort Sea, higher macrozooplankton grazing in the summer (Forest et al. 2007) also resulted in higher sedimentary phaeophorbide a (**Paper II**). In the fall, however, grazing activity by macro- and meso- zooplankton was lower and fecal pellets were mainly from microzooplankton (Forest et al. 2006). Indeed, the sedimentary phaeopigment composition switched from a clear phaeophorbide a signal to a less clear phaeopigment composition. In the spring, phaeophorbide a increased from January to April. However, grazing in the water column did not seem to be responsible for this increase, instead, the increase in phaeophorbide a was attributed to increased of benthic macrofaunal activity (**Paper VI**).

Although inputs of grazing-degraded organic matter to the sea floor can be estimated by the identification of phaeophorbide *a*, microbial degradation is much harder to estimate using pigment composition. No specific marker of microbial degradation was identified in the present study. Phaeophytin is created during herbivory (grazing), microbial degradation and cell senescence (see section 5.2), and thus microbial degradation was mainly implied when no proof of grazing was found. In the Amundsen Gulf, the importance of sedimentary phaeophytin *a* relative to other phaeopigments was observed (**Paper II**), suggesting that less grazing by macro- and meso- zooplankton occurred and therefore relatively more microbial degradation.

7.4 Benthic communities

SOD has been used as an estimate of carbon going through the whole benthic community (Table 4), while minivial incubations and bottom photography allowed partitioning of carbon degradation between epifauna, macrofauna, and microfauna/bacteria to be assessed (Table 5). The relationship between the whole benthic community activity and the environmental and biological factors has been discussed in the previous sections. Depth and downward carbon fluxes seemed to be the most important factors in determining SOD. Moreover, sedimentary chl *a* concentrations correlated strongly with SOD (**Papers I, II, III**)

and IV), and availability of high quality food (i.e., higher chl *a* content and chl *a*/phaeo ratio) has been found to correlate with SOD also on other Arctic shelves (Grant et al. 2002, Clough et al. 2005, Dunton et al. 2005). As a further indicator of the robustness of the positive correlation between chl *a* and SOD, sedimentary chl *a* has been accepted for use in models as a predictor of SOD in steady state systems (Sun et al. 1991).

However, as episodic organic matter inputs to the benthos occur, SOD and chl a may not be sufficient to explain the benthic response, necessitating additional parameters. Although SOD increased, the higher inputs of ice algae in the spring did not lead to higher sedimentary chl a (**Paper V**). This lead us to carry out a further detailed study of sedimentary pigments and diatom frustules (**Paper VI**). From January to May, the phaeophorbide *a* to chl a ratio increased at the Franklin Bay overwintering site, as did sediment bioturbation. This suggests that macrobenthos activity was enhanced by fresh detrital inputs, increasing bioturbation. The rapid use of phytodetritus lead to a quick degradation of the chl a to its grazing degradation products. Compared to temperate areas, Arctic macrobenthos have been found to have an enhanced role in benthic carbon cycling relative to meio- and micro- fauna (Piepenburg et al. 1995, Rowe et al. 1997, Clough et al. 2005, Grebmeier et al. 2006). In the Beaufort Sea, microbial oxygen demand varied from 25-90% (average 60%). In the Barents Sea, when comparing total SOD (from Paper III) with microbial oxygen demand determined by Vandieken et al. (2006), it appeared that 38-62% (average 52%) of the total SOD was due to microbial activity. Although the minivial incubation technique is thought to overestimate oxygen consumption, in both studies, macro- and micro- fauna seemed to have similar contributions to oxygen demand. However, as suggested in other Arctic studies, these macrofauna oxygen-demands appear to remain higher than in studies of non-polar ecosystems (Boucher & Clavier 1990, Mahaut et al. 1995, Heip et al. 2001).

In some Arctic areas, epifauna can reach very high abundances and ophiuroids are among the most abundant megafauna on Arctic continental shelves (Piepenburg 2000). The results in the Beaufort Sea confirmed this tendency, where ophiuroids were abundant in the shallow shelf area and contributed an important part, up to 41%, of the SOD (**Paper IV**). The importance of ophiuroids in the Arctic Ocean is due to flexibility of their feeding mode (Piepenburg 2000) and considerable mobility, allowing a rapid response to episodic food pulses (Smith 1986), which are common in the Arctic.

Different groups of the sediment community respond in different ways and on different time scales to the deposition of phytodetritus (Pfannkuche et al. 2000). Some previous studies have found a time lag between the pulse of organic matter to the seafloor and

the benthic response. In contrast, the present study shows that the benthos can quickly respond to these inputs. Benthic macrofauna seems to be particularly efficient in degrading carbon. This has also been previously suggested by Witte et al. (2003). Consequently, the benthic faunal composition (epi-, macro-, or micro- fauna) can determine the fate of organic matter reaching the sea floor.

Location	Date	Water depth (m)	Chl a	CPE	Units	<u>Chl a</u> Phaeo	Sediment Depth (cm)	Study
Western Barents Sea	May	206-340	0.3-30	2-90	mg m ⁻²	0.2-0.4		Paper I
	Jul-Aug	195-503	0.2-1	5-13	mg m ^{-z}	0.03-0.2	. 	
Northern Barents Sea	Jul-Aug	226-405	1-4	7-23	$mg m^{-2}$	0.16-0.2	5	Pfannkuche & Thiel (1987)
(Svalbard Shelf)		854-3920	< <u>-</u>	1-7	mg m ⁻²	0.16	5	
Barents Sea slope	Jul	1400		66-102	mg m ⁻²	0.07-0.1	10	Thomsen et al. (1995)
Mackenzie shelf	Jul-Aug Oct-Nov	32-82 45_86	1-14 0 8-3 5	13-37 15-27	mg m ⁻²	0.09-0.7 0.06-0.3	, , ,	Paper II
			0.00	1	ב ת	0.0000	_	
Southeastern Beaufort Sea	Jul-Aug Oct-Nov	180-440 395-420	0.2-3.7 0.06-0.7	5-22 5-11	mg m ⁻² mg m ⁻²	0.03-0.2 0.06-0.07	- -	Paper II
Laptev Sea	Aug-Sep	50	45	100	mg m ⁻²	0.8	~	Boetius & Damm (1998)
(Eurasian Arctic)		1000-3500	۲ ۲	10-40	mg m ⁻²	0.05-0.1	-	
	Sep-Oct	37-107		2-13 2-0-2	hg cm ⁻³		 .	Grahl et al. (1995)
	•	213-3427		0.6-3	hg cm		, - -	
	Jul-Aug	39-140		о о о	ہے۔ hg cm		, ,	
		204-3831		0.2-3	ng cm		-	
Bering/Chukchi Sea	May-Jun	34-170	1-19		mg m ⁻²		. 	Cooper et al. (2005)
		202-523	2-15		mg m ⁻²		~	
	July Aug	46-185	9-31		mg m ⁻²		.	
		189-478	2-37		mg m			
Chukchi Sea	Jul	40-600	0.07-2.8	1-26	µg cm ⁻³	0.03-0.3	.	Clough et al. (2005)
Western Arctic	Jul-Aug	540-3648	0-0.01	0.03-0.3	hg cm ⁻³	0-0.07	. 	Clough et al. (2005)*

Table 3. Summary of sedimentary pigments in the Arctic. Chl *a*: Chlorophyll *a*; CPE: ChloroPlastic Equivalent (Chlorophyll *a* + Phaeopigments); Chl *a*/Phaeo: ratio chlorophyll *a* to total phaeopigments. Note that the units used and the sediment depth differs in the various studies, and are indicated in the columns "Units" and "Sediment depth (cm)" respectively.

Fram Strait	Jul-Aug	750-3020	0.03-0.9	2-6	hg cm ⁻³	0.01-0.2	-	Schewe & Soltwedel (2003)
Ellesmere Island- W Greenland (NOW)	Apr-May Jul	247-680	0-2 <1-5	4-30 11-42	mg m ⁻² mg m ⁻²	0-0.07 0.01-0.1	~ ~	Grant et al. (2002)
NE Greenland (NEW)	Jul-Aug May-Aug Sept	150-515 290-340 183-774 1098-1965	<1-3	9-46 12-44 6-33 3-7	${mg\ m^{-2}}$	0.07-0.1		Ambrose & Renaud (1995) Ambrose & Renaud (1997) Brandt & Schnack (1999)
Central Arctic Ocean	Jul-Aug	68 540-4190 1055_4180	0 م <u>ا</u>	∼ ∼ 1> < 0, 2	mg m ⁻² mg m ⁻²	<0.16	700	Clough et al. (1997) Soltworld & Schewe (1008)
* Barrow Canyon stati	on not includ	ted due to its e	xtremely hig	h pigment c	content		_	

Location	Water	SOD	Study
	depth (m)	mmol O ₂ m ⁻² day ⁻¹	
Barents Sea	195-503	2.3-10.4	Paper III
	80-1000	1.6-2.8	Piepenburg et al. (1995)
Eastern Svalbard	226-320	3.2-11.9	Pfannkuche & Thiel (1987)
	170-240	3.9-11.2	Hulth et al. (1994)
Mackenzie shelf	42-82	3.2-9.4	Paper IV
Southeastern	167-420	2-6.5	Paper IV
Beaufort Sea	234	4.9-20.2 (over winter-spring)	Paper V
Laptev Sea continental slope	200-1000	0.5-7.8	Boetius & Damm (1998)
Eastern Chukchi Sea	40-600	0.7-13.2	Clough et al. (2005)
Bering Shelf-Anadyr Water Northern Bering-Chukchi Seas	49-68	10.3-20.7	Clough et al. (2005)
Alaskan Coastal Water	20-55	0.6-19.4 (mean 8.7)	Grebmeier & McRoy (1989)
Bering Shelf-Anadyr Water	20-55	1.8-45.6 (mean 19.2)	Grebmeier & McRoy (1989)
Northern Bering-Chukchi Seas	11-48	7.4-18	Devol et al. (1997)
Western Arctic Ocean	540-3648	0.3-1.4	Clough et al. (2005)
Young Sound, Greenland	36	5-13 (over year)	Rygsgaard et al. (1998)
	20-163	4-20	Glud et al. (2000)
Northeast Greenland Shelf	250-350	1.4-2.6	Rowe et al. (1997)
Resolute Bay, Canadian Arctic	16	2-18 (over year)	Welch et al. (1997)
Baffin Bay	300-680	1.7-4.1	Grant et al. (2002)

Table 4. Summary of SOD values determined in the Arctic (modified from Clough et al. 2005).

 Table 5.
 Summary of oxygen-demand partitioning between macro- and epi- fauna in the Arctic (modified from Paper IV).

Location	Depth (m)	Macrofauna (%)	Epifauna (%)	Study
Barents Sea	198-503 <200 >200	38-62 (avg 47)* 14-75 (avg 17) 5-75 (avg 21)	20-94 (avg 21) 2-4 (avg 3)	Paper III , Vandieken (2006) Piepenburg et al. (1995)
Beaufort Sea	38-440	33-50	0.1-41	Paper IV
Chukchi Sea	30-280 29-213	Up to 61	0-26	Grebmeier & McRoy (1989) Ambrose et al. (2001)
Young Sound	<40 >40		17.5 26	Rysgaard & Nielsen (2006)
NOW	250-570	0-70 (spring) 70-80 (summer)		Grant et al. (2002)

8. Concluding remarks

The study of sedimentary pigments by HPLC confirmed Hypothesis 1 showing quantitative and qualitative changes in algal sources of organic matter and in organic matter fluxes, and thus allowed the identification of different variables affecting the pelagic-benthic coupling in the Arctic. Changes in primary production were accompanied by changes in abundance of chl a and accessory pigments; changes in food web structure were indicated by changes in abundance of phaeopigments (i.e. phaeophorbide due to grazing); changes in environmental factors (depth and riverine influence) were reflected in changes in the chl a/phaeo ratio and abundance of chlb degradation products.

Pigment analysis also helped confirm Hypothesis 2, indicating that SOD was strongly dependent on inputs of organic matter from overlying waters. Moreover the combination of sedimentary pigments with SOD and other biomarkers, such as stable isotopes and diatom frustules, allowed a better assessment of the pelagic-benthic coupling.

As suggested by Hypothesis 3, the present study highlighted some spatial and seasonal changes in the pelagic-benthic coupling of the Barents and Beaufort Seas (Table 6), emphasizing the important contrast between the two ecosystems (primary production, secondary production, and hydrography). In the Barents Sea, spatial changes were highly influenced by currents (**Paper I**) while in the Beaufort Sea, spatial changes were due to water depth and river influence (**Papers II and IV**). Physical factors seemed to be responsible for spatial variability.

From a seasonal point of view, productivity regime, especially ice-algal production and match/mismatch of grazing with primary production, seemed to impact the organic matter inputs to the benthos. In the spring, ice-algal production largely influenced organic matter inputs to the benthos in both the Barents and Beaufort Seas (**Papers I, V and VI**). In the summer, grazing was responsible for inputs of degraded material in both ecosystems (**Papers I and II**). In addition to biological factors, environmental factors were also important in summer and/or fall. In the Barents Sea, during the summer, the different currents lead to phytoplankton taxonomy variations (**Paper I**), and in the Beaufort Sea, during the fall, riverine inputs were found to be responsible for the presence of allochthonous material in the sediment. **Table 6.** Summary of the environmental and biological factors shaping the pelagic-benthic coupling in the Beaufort and Barents Seas.

	Beaufort Sea	Barents Sea
Ice algae	spring and summer	spring and summer
Phytoplankton	seasonal variation	spatial variation in summer
Grazing	summer	summer
River input	\checkmark	
Current		\checkmark
Water depth	\checkmark	
	marine (gulf)	
Benthic activities	terrestrial (shelf)	overlying productivity

Both environmental and biological factors were found to affect seasonal and spatial variations in pelagic-benthic coupling. Physical variables such as water depth, riverine inputs and dominant water mass, seemed to impact spatial variations, while biological factors such as primary production, grazing, and composition of benthic communities, seemed to mainly impact seasonal variations.

Global warming is expected to directly or indirectly affect each factor shaping the Arctic pelagic-benthic coupling, and thus will most likely lead to large changes in organic matter cycling on Arctic shelves.

9. Overall significance and perspectives

This is the first time sedimentary pigments have been studied by HPLC technique in the Arctic, allowing identification and quantification of various pigments and degradation products in the Barents and Beaufort Seas. This provided the opportunity to assess multiple factors (spatial, temporal, biotic, abiotic) simultaneously affecting POM inputs to the sea floor. Biotic and abiotic factors shaping pelagic-benthic coupling have usually been addressed individually (i.e. study of macrozooplankton grazing, study of primary production, study of currents). The new approach used in this work is unique in the sense that it increased the knowledge of pelagic-benthic coupling the Barents and Beaufort Seas by including many components of the ecosystem, environmental factors and biological parameters.

However, although this method allowed the relative comparison of factors such as input from the river or grazing, it was not possible to quantify the effects of each factor on the quality and quantity of POM inputs to the sediment. As outlined below, some improvements in this approach could allow creating POM-fluxes models using only concentration and composition of sedimentary pigments.

Firstly, in order to use pigments as markers of particulate organic carbon (POC) flux to sediment, it is important to know the ratio between photosynthetic pigments and POC. Measuring this ratio under different conditions would allow determination of quantitative relationships between pigment and POC fluxes.

Secondly, a better understanding of pigment degradation in both the water column and the sediment would make it possible to estimate the relative contribution of the different secondary producers to pigment degradation. Compounds derived from a specific degradation process could be studied in laboratory experiments where one single process occurs (i.e. zooplankton grazing, benthos grazing, bacterial degradation in the water column and in the sediment, photooxidation). However the evaluation of the results from such an experiment is complicated since some pigments are degraded to colorless compounds and some pigments have multiple degradation products. The degradation products could be identified by nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy (NMR), which identifies functional groups, or by HPLC coupled with a mass spectrometer (HPLC-MS), which gives the composition of the compound by measuring the mass-to-charge ratio of ions.

Third, in order to differentiate phytoplankton diatoms from ice-associated diatoms, it would be necessary to use another marker, such as lipid composition. Although the pigment composition itself (i.e. fucoxanthin) is not different between phytoplankton diatoms and iceassociated diatoms, the degradation products may be different. For example, ice-algal diatoms are closer to the water surface and thus their pigments may be more photodegraded. The degradation products of fucoxanthin could differ between ice algal and phytoplankton diatoms and could be identified, as mentioned previously, either by NMR or HPLC-MS.

Finally, in order to assess the quality of POM derived from ice algae reaching the seafloor and understand if the quality of ice algae is higher than phytoplankton, the degradation products of fucoxanthin could be used. This could actually explain the tighter coupling of the benthic response in the ice covered scenario of Carroll and Carroll (2003).

10. References

ACIA (2005) Arctic Climate Impact assessment, Cambridge University Press, NY, p 1042

- Aller RC, Aller JY (1998) The effect of biogenic irrigation intensity and solute exchange on diagenetic reaction rates in marine sediments. Journal of Marine Research 56:906-936
- AMAP (1998) AMAP Assessment Report: Arctic Pollution Issues. Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Program (AMAP), Oslo, Norway, p 859
- Ambrose WG, Renaud PE (1995) Benthic response to water column productivity patterns evidence for benthic-pelagic coupling in the northeast water polynya. Journal of Geophysical Research-Oceans 100:4411-4421
- Ambrose WG, Renaud PE (1997) Does a pulsed food supply to the benthos affect polychaete recruitment patterns in the Northeast Water Polynya? Journal of Marine Systems 10:483-495
- Ambrose WG, von Quillfeldt C, Clough LM, Tilney PVR, Tucker T (2005) The sub-ice algal community in the Chukchi Sea: large- and small-scale patterns of abundance based on images from a remotely operated vehicle. Polar Biology 28:784-795
- Arrigo K, Van Dijken G (2004) Annual cycles of sea ice and phytoplankton in Cape Bathurst polynya, southeastern Beaufort Sea, Canadian Arctic. Geophysical Research Letters 31:doi: 10.1029/2003GL018978
- Arrigo KR (2003) Primary Production in Sea Ice. In: Black KD, Shimmield GB (eds) Sea Ice: An Introduction to its Physics, Chemistry, Biology and Geology. Blackwell Publishing, Oxford, p 143-183
- Bessière A, Nozais C, Brugel S, Demers S, Desrosiers G (2007) Metazoan meiofauna dynamics and pelagic-benthic coupling in the Southeastern Beaufort Sea, Arctic Ocean. Polar Biology 30:1123-1135
- Bianchi TS, Engelhaupt E, Westman P, Andren T, Rolff C, Elmgren R (2000) Cyanobacterial blooms in the Baltic Sea: Natural or human-induced? Limnology and Oceanography 45:716-726
- Bianchi TS, Kautsky L, Argyrou M (1997) Dominant chlorophylls and carotenoids in macroalgae of the Baltic Sea (Baltic proper): Their use as potential biomarkers. Sarsia 82:55-62
- Boetius A, Damm E (1998) Benthic oxygen uptake, hydrolytic potentials and microbial biomass at the Arctic continental slope. Deep-Sea Research I 45:239-275
- Boon AR, Duineveld GCA (1996) Phytopigments and fatty acids as molecular markers for the quality of near-bottom particulate organic matter in the North Sea. Journal of Sea Research 35:279-291
- Boucher G, Clavier J (1990) Contribution of benthic biomass to overall metabolism in New Caledonia lagoon sediments. Marine Ecology Progress Series 64:271-280
- Brandt A, Schnack K (1999) Macrofaunal abundance at 79°N off East Greenland: opposing data from epibenthic-sledge and box-corer samples. Polar Biology 22:75-81
- Brotas V, Plante-Cuny MR (1998) Spatial and temporal patterns of microphytobenthic taxa of estuarine tidal flats in the Tagus estuary (Portugal) using pigment analysis by HPLC. Marine Ecology-Progress Series 171:43-57
- Carmack EC, Macdonald RW, Jasper S (2004) Phytoplankton productivity on the Canadian Shelf of the Beaufort Sea. Marine Ecology Progress Series 277:37-50
- Carney RS, Haedrich RL, Rowe GT (1983) Zonation of fauna in the deep sea. In: Rowe GT (ed) The Sea, Vol 8: Deep-sea biology. Wiley Interscience, New York, p 371-398
- Carpenter SR, Elser MM, Elser KK (1986) Chlorophyll production, degradation, and sedimentation: implication for sedimentology. Limnology and Oceanography 31:112-124

- Carroll ML, Carroll J (2003) The Arctic Seas. In: Black KD, Shimmield GB (eds) Biogeochemistry of Marine Systems. Blackwell Publishing, Oxford, p 126-156
- Chen M, Huang YP, Guo LD, Cai PH, Yang WF, Liu GS, Qiu YS (2002) Biological productivity and carbon cycling in the Arctic Ocean. Chinese Science Bulletin 47:1037-1040
- Chen NH, Bianchi TS, McKee BA (2005) Early diagenesis of chloropigment biomarkers in the lower Mississippi River and Louisiana shelf: implications for carbon cycling in a river-dominated margin. Marine Chemistry 93:159-177
- Chen NH, Bianchi TS, McKee BA, Bland JM (2001) Historical trends of hypoxia on the Louisiana shelf: application of pigments as biomarkers. Organic Geochemistry 32:543-561
- Chmura GL, Santos A, Pospelova V, Spasojevic Z, Lam R, Latimer JS (2004) Response of three paleo-primary production proxy measures to development of an urban estuary. Science of the Total Environment 320:225-243
- Clough LM, Ambrose WG, Cochran JK, Barnes C, Renaud PE, Aller RC (1997) Infaunal density, biomass and bioturbation in the sediments of the Arctic Ocean. Deep-Sea Research II 44:1683-1704
- Clough LM, Renaud P, Ambrose WG (2005) Impact of water depth, sediment pigment concentration, and benthic macrofauna biomass on sediment oxygen demand in the Western Arctic Ocean. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 62:1756–1765
- Colebrook JM (1985) Continuous plankton records: overwintering and annual fluctuations in the abundance of zooplankton. Marine Biology 84:261-265
- Conlan K, Aitken A, Hendrycks E, McClelland C, Melling H (in press) Distribution patterns of Canadian Beaufort Shelf macrobenthos. Journal of Marine Systems
- Cooper LW, Larsen IL, Grebmeier JM, Moran SB (2005) Detection of rapid deposition of sea ice-rafted material to the Arctic Ocean benthos using the cosmogenic tracer ⁷Be. Deep Sea Research II 52:3452
- Cremer H (1999) Spatial distribution of diatom surface sediment assemblages on the Laptev Sea shelf (Russian Arctic). In: Kassens H, Bauch HA, Dmitrenko I, Eicken H, Hubberten K-W, Melles M, Thiede J, Timokhov L (eds) Land-Ocean Systems in the Siberian Arctic: Dynamic and History. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, p 533-551
- Cuddington K, Leavitt PR (1999) An individual-based model of pigment flux in lakes: implication for organic biogeochemistry and paleoecology. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 56:1964-1977
- Dauwe B, Middelburg JJ, Herman PMJ (2001) Effect of oxygen on the degradability of organic matter in subtidal and intertidal sediments of the North Sea area. Marine Ecology Progress Series 215:13-22
- Dittmar T, Kattner G (2003) The biogeochemistry of the river and shelf ecosystem of the Arctic Ocean: a review. Marine Chemistry 83:103-120
- Djinoridze RN, Ivanov GI, Djinoridze EN, Spielhagen RF (1999) Diatoms from surface sediments of the Saint Anna Trough (Kara Sea). In: Kassens H, Bauch HA, Dmitrenko I, Eicken H, Hubberten K-W, Melles M, J.Thiede, Timokhov L (eds) Land-Ocean Systems in the Siberian Arctic: Dynamic and History. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, p 553-560
- Dunton KH, Goodall JL, Schonberg SV, Grebmeier JM, Maidment DR (2005) Multi-decadal synthesis of benthic-pelagic coupling in the western arctic: Role of cross-shelf advective processes. Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography 52:3462-3477

- Engelsen O, Hegseth EN, Hop H, Hansen E, Falk-Petersen S (2002) Spatial variability of chlorophyll-a in the Marginal Ice Zone of the Barents Sea, with relations to sea ice and oceanographic conditions. Journal of Marine Systems 35:79-97
- Fahl K, Cremer H, Erlenkeuser H, Hanssen H, Hölemann J, Kassens H, Knickmeier K, Kosobokova K, Kunz-Pirrung M, Lindemann F, Markhaseva E, Lischka S, Petryashov V, Piepenburg D, Schmid M, Spindler M, Stein R, Tuschling K (2001) Sources and pathways of organic carbon in the modern Laptev Sea (Arctic Ocean): implications from biological, geochemical and geological data. Polarforschung 69:193-205
- Fahl K, Stein R, Gaye-Haake B, Gebhardt AC, Kodina LA, Unger D, Ittekkot V (2003) Biomarkers in surface sediments from the Ob and Yenisei estuaries and the southern Kara Sea: Evidence for particulate organic carbon sources, pathways, and degradation. In: Stein R, Fahl K, Futterer DK, Galimov AM, Stepanets OV (eds) Siberian river run-off in the Kara Sea. Elsevier, Amsterdam, p 329-348
- Feder H, Naidu A, Jewett S, Hameedi J, Johnson W, Whitledge T (1994) The northeastern Chukchi Sea: Benthos-environmental interactions. Marine Ecology Progress Series 111:171-190
- Fernandes MB, Sicre M-A (2000) The importance of terrestrial organic carbon inputs on Kara Sea shelves as revealed by *n*-alkanes, OC, δ^{13} C values. Organic Geochemistry 26:379-390
- Ferreyra G, Schloss I, Demers S (2004) Rôle de la glace saisonnière dans la dynamique de l'écosystème marin de l'antarctique: impact potentiel du changement climatique global. La revue en sciences de l'environnement Vertigo 5
- Ford RB, Honeywill C (2002) Grazing on intertidal microphytobenthos by macrofauna: is phaeophorbide *a* a useful marker? Marine Ecology Progress Series 229:33-42
- Forest A, Sampei M, Hattori H, Makabe R, Sasaki H, Fukuchi M, Wassmann P, Fortier L (2007) Particulate organic carbon fluxes on the slope of the Mackenzie Shelf (Beaufort Sea): Physical and biological forcing of shelf-basin exchanges. Journal of Marine Systems 68:39-54
- Froneman PW, Pakhomov EA, Perissinotto R, Laubscher RK, McQuaid CD (1997) Dynamics of the plankton communities of the Lazarev Sea (Southern Ocean) during seasonal ice melt. Marine Ecology Progress Series 149:201-214
- Garrison DL, Buck KR (1986) Organism losses during ice melting: A serious bias in sea ice community studies. Polar Biology 6:237-239
- Gieskes WWC, Kraay GW (1984) Phytoplankton, its pigments, and primary production at a central north sea station in May, July and September 1981. Netherlands Journal of Sea Research 18:51-70
- Glud RN, Holby O, Hoffmann F, Canfield DE (1998) Benthic mineralization and exchange in Arctic sediment (Svalbard, Norway). Marine Ecology Progress Series 173:237-251
- Glud RN, Risgaard-Petersen N, Thamdrup B, Fossing H, Rysgaard S (2000) Benthic carbon mineralization in a high-Arctic sound (Young Sound, NE Greenland). Marine Ecology Progress Series 206:59-71
- Goericke R, Shankle A, Repeta DJ (1999) Novel carotenol chlorin esters in marine sediments and water column particulate matter. Geochimica Et Cosmochimica Acta 63:2825-2834
- Goffart A, Catalano G, Hecq JH (2000) Factors controlling the distribution of diatoms and *Phaeocystis* in the Ross Sea. Journal of Marine Systems 27:161-175
- Gosselin M, Levasseur M, Wheeler PA, Horner RA, Booth BC (1997) New measurements of phytoplankton and ice algal production in the Arctic Ocean. Deep-Sea Research II 44:1623-1644

- Gradinger R (1999) Vertical fine structure of the biomass and composition of algal communities in Arctic pack ice. Marine Biology 133:745-754
- Graf G (1992) Benthic-pelagic coupling: A benthic view. Oceanography and Marine Biology: an Annual Review 30:149-190
- Graf G, Gerlach SA, Linke P, Queisser W, Ritzrau W, Scheltz A, Thomsen L, Witte U (1995) Benthic-pelagic coupling in the Greenland-Norwegian Sea and its effect on the geological record. Geology Rundsch 84:49-58
- Grahl C, Boetius A, Nothig E-M (1995) Pelagic-Benthic Coupling in the Laptev Sea Affected by Ice Cover. In: Land-Ocean Systems in the Siberian Arctic: Dynamics and History, p 143-152
- Grant J, Hargrave B, MacPherson P (2002) Sediment properties and benthic-pelagic coupling in the North Water. Deep-Sea Research II 49:5259-5275
- Grebmeier JM (1993) Studies of pelagic-benthic coupling extended onto the Soviet continental shelf in the northern Bering and Chukchi seas. Continental Shelf Research 13:653-668
- Grebmeier JM, Barry JP (1991) The influence of oceanographic processes on pelagic-benthic coupling in polar reagions: A benthic perspective. Journal of Marine Systems 2:295-518
- Grebmeier JM, Cooper LW, Feder HM, Sirenko BI (2006) Ecosystem dynamics of the Pacific-influenced Northern Bering and Chukchi Seas in the Amerasian Arctic. Progress in Oceanography 71:331-361
- Grebmeier JM, McRoy CP (1989) Pelagic-benthic coupling on the shelf of the northern Bering and Chukchi Seas. III. Benthic food supply and carbon cycling. Marine Ecology Progress Series 53:79-91
- Grebmeier JM, McRoy CP, Feder HM (1988) Pelagic-benthic coupling on the shelf of the northern Bering and Chukchi Seas. I. Food supply source and benthic biomass. Marine Ecology Progress Series 48:57-57
- Hamilton PB, Proulx M, Earle C (2002) Enumerating phytoplankton with an upright compound microscope using a modified settling chamber. Hydrobiologia 444: 171-175.
- Harris PG, Zhao M, RosellMele A, Tiedemann R, Sarnthein M, Maxwell JR (1996) Chlorin accumulation rate as a proxy for Quaternary marine primary productivity. Nature 383:63-65
- Heip CHR, Duineveld GCA, Flach E, Graf G, Helder W, Herman PMJ, Lavaleye M, Middleberg JJ, Pfannkuche O, Soetaert K, Soltwedel T, de Stiger H, Thomsen H, Vanaverbeke J, de Wilde P (2001) The role of the benthic biota in sedimentary metabolism and sediment-water exchange processes in the Goban Spur area (NE Atlantic). Deep-Sea Research Part II 48:3223-3243
- Hill V, Cota G, Stockwell D (2005) Spring and summer phytoplankton communities in the Chukchi and Eastern Beaufort Seas. Deep-Sea Research II 52:3369-3385
- Hobson KA, Ambrose WG, Renaud PE (1995) Sources of primary production, benthicpelagic coupling, and trophic relationships within the Northeast Water Polynya: Insights from delta C-13 and delta N-15 analysis. Marine Ecology Progress Series 128:1-10
- Hodgson DA, Wright SW, Tyler PA, Davies N (1998) Analysis of fossil pigments from algae and bacteria in meromictic Lake Fidler, Tasmania, and its application to lake management. Journal of Paleolimnology 19:1-22
- Holm-Hansen O, Lorenzen CJ, Holms RW, Strickland JD (1965) Fluorometric determination of chlorophyll. Journal du Conseil International pour l'Exploration de la Mer 30:3-15

- Hulth S (1994) Arctic sediments (Svalbard): consumption and microdistribution of oxygen. Marine Chemistry 46:293-316
- IPCC (2007) IPCC Fourth Assessment Report: Climate Change 2007, Cambridge University Press
- Jeffrey S. W. (1974) Profiles of photosynthetic pigments in the ocean using thin layer chromatography. Marine Biology 26:101–110
- Jeffrey SW, Mantoura RFC, Wright SW (1997) Phytoplankton Pigments in Oceanography, Vol. UNESCO Publishing
- Jeffrey SW, Vesk M (1997) Introduction to marine phytoplankton and their pigment signature. In: Jeffrey SW, Mantoura RFC (eds) Phytoplankton pigments in oceanography. UNESCO, p 37-84
- Johannessen OM, Miles MW (2000) Arctic sea ice and climate change will the ice disappear in this century? Science Progress 83:209-222
- Klages M, Boetius A, Christensen JP, Deubel H, Piepenburg D, Schewe I, Soltwedel T (2004) The Benthos of the Arctic seas and its Role for the Organic Carbon Cycle at the Seafloor. In: Stein R, Macdonald RW (eds) The Organic Carbon Cycle in the Arctic Ocean. Springer, p 139-167
- Klein B, LeBlanc B, Mei Z-P, Beret R, Michaud J, Mundy C-J, Quillfeldt CHv, Garneau M-È, Roy S, Gratton Y, Cohran JK, Belanger S, Larouche P, Pakulski JD, Rivkin RB, Legendre L (2002) Phytoplankton biomass, production and potential export in the North Water. Deep-Sea Research II 49:4983-5002
- Kowalewska G (1995) A HPLC method of determination of Chlorophylls-c in samples of the marine-environment. Chemia Analityczna 40:697-704
- Kowalewska G (2001) Algal pigments in Baltic sediments as markers of ecosystem and climate changes. Climate Research 18:89-96
- Kowalewska G, Wawrzyniak-Wydrowska B, Szymczak-Zyla M (2004) Chlorophyll a and its derivatives in sediments of the Odra estuary as a measure of its eutrophication. Marine Pollution Bulletin 49:148-153
- Kowalewska G, Winterhalter B, Konat J (1998) Chlorophyll *a* and its derivatives in deep Baltic sediments. Oceanologia 40:65-69
- Leavitt PR (1993) A review of factors that regulate carotenoid and chlorophyll deposition and fossil pigment abundance. Journal of Paleolimnology 9:109-127
- Leavitt PR, Hodgson DA (2001) Sedimentary pigments. In: Smol JP, Birks HJN, Last WM (eds) Tracking Environmental Change Using Lake Sediments Volume 3: Terrestrial, Algal, and Siliceous Indicators, Vol 3. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands
- Legendre L, Ackley SF, Dieckmann GS, Gulliksen B, Horner R, Hoshiai T, Melnikov IA, Reeburgh WS, Spindler M, Sullivan CW (1992) Ecology of sea ice biota: 2. Global significance. Polar Biology 12:429-444
- Leventer A (2003) Particulate Flux from Sea Ice in Polar Waters. In: Black KD, Shimmield GB (eds) Sea Ice: An introduction to its Physics, Chemistry, Biology and Geology. Blackwell Publishing, Oxford, p 303-332
- Lizotte MP (2003) The Microbiology of Sea Ice. In: Black KD, Shimmield GB (eds) Biogeochemistry of Marine Systems. Blackwell Publishing, Oxford, p 185-209
- Lovejoy C, Massana R, Pedros-Alio C (2006) Diversity and Distribution of Marine Microbial Eukaryotes in the Arctic Ocean and Adjacent Seas. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 72:3085-3095
- Macdonald RW, Solomon SM, Cranston RE, Welch HE, Yunker MB, Gobeil C (1998) A sediment and organic carbon budget for the Canadian Beaufort Shelf. Marine Geology 144:255-273

- Mackey MD, Mackey DJ, Higgins HW, Wright SW (1996) CHEMTAX A program for estimating class abundances from chemical markers: Application to HPLC measurements of phytoplankton. Marine Ecology Progress Series 144:265-283
- Mahaut M-L, Sibuet M, Shirayama Y (1995) Weight-dependent respiration rates in deep-sea organisms. Deep-Sea Research I 42:1575-1582
- Mantoura RFC, Llewellyn CA (1983) The rapid determination of algal chlorophyll and carotenoid pigments and their breakdown products in natural waters by reverse-phase high-performance liquid chromatography. Analytica Chimica Acta:297-314
- Matthiessen J, Kunz-Pirrung M, Mudie PJ (2000) Freshwater chlorophycean algae in recent marine sediments of the Beaufort, Laptev and Kara Seas (Arctic Ocean) as indicators of river runoff. International Journal of Earth Sciences 89:470-489
- Maybeck M (1993) C, N, P, and S in rivers: from sources to global inputs. In: Wollast R, Mackenzie FT, Chou L (eds) Interactions of C, N, P and S Biogeochemical Cycles and Global Change. Springer, Berlin, p 116-194
- McMahon KW, Ambrose Jr WG, Johnson BJ, Sun M-Y, Lopez GR, Clough LM, Carroll ML (2006) Benthic community response to ice algae and phytoplankton in Ny Ålesund, Svalbard. Marine Ecology Progress Series 310:1-14
- Michel C, Legendre L, Ingram R, Gosselin M, Levasseur M (1996) Carbon budget of sea-ice algae in spring: Evidence of a significant transfer to zooplankton grazers. Journal of Geophysical Research-Oceans 101:18345-18360
- Michel C, Nielsen TG, Nozais C, Gosselin M (2002) Significance of sedimentation and grazing by ice micro- and meiofauna for carbon cycling in annual sea ice (northern Baffin Bay). Aquatic Microbial Ecology 30:57-68
- Mitchell JFB, Johns TC, Gregory JM, Tett SFB (1995) Climate Response to Increasing Levels of Greenhouse Gases and Sulfate Aerosols. Nature 376:501-504
- Moran SB, Kelly RP, Hagstrom K, Smith JN, Grebmeier JM, Cooper LW, Cota GF, Walsh JJ, Bates NR, Hansell DA (2005) Seasonal changes in POC export flux in the Chukchi Sea and implications for water column-benthic coupling in Arctic shelves. Deep Sea Research II 52:3427-3451
- Murphy EJ, Boyd PW, Leakey RJG, Atkinson A, Edwards ES, Robinson C, Priddle J, Bury SJ, Robins DB, Burkill PH, Savidge G, Owens NJP, Turner D (1998) Carbon flux in ice-ocean-plankton systems of the Bellinghausen Sea during a period of ice retreat. Journal of Marine Systems 17:207-227
- Not F, Massana R, Latasa M, Marie D, Colson C, Eikrem W, Pedrós-Alió C, Vaulot D, Simon N (2005) Late summer community composition and abundance of photosynthetic picoeukaryotes in Norwegian and Barents Sea. Limnology and Oceanography 50:1677-1686
- Nozais C, Gosselin M, Michel C, Tita G (2001) Abundance, biomass, composition and grazing impact of the sea-ice meiofauna in the North Water, northern Baffin Bay. Marine Ecology Progress Series 217:235-250
- O'Brien MC, Macdonald RW, Melling H, Iseki K (2006) Particles fluxes and geochemistry on the Canadian Beaufort Shelf: Implication for sediment transport and deposition. Continental Shelf Research 26:41-81
- Olli K, Riser CW, Wassmann P, Ratkova T, Arashkevich E, Pasternak A (2002) Seasonal variation in vertical flux of biogenic matter in the marginal ice zone and the central Barents Sea. Journal Of Marine Systems 38:189-204
- Petersen GH, Curtis MA (1980) Differences in energy flow through major components of subarctic, temperate and tropical marine shelf ecosystems. Dana 1:53-64

- Peterson BJ, Holmes RM, McClelland JW, Vorosmarty CJ, Lammers RB, Shiklomanov AI, Shiklomanov IA, Rahmstorf S (2002) Increasing river discharge to the Arctic Ocean. Science 298:2171-2173
- Pfannkuche O (1992) Organic carbon flux through the benthic community in the temperate abyssal Northeast Atlantic. In: Rowe GT, Pariente V (eds) Deep-Sea Food Chains and the Global Carbon Cycle. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, p 183-198
- Pfannkuche O, Sommer S, Kahler A (2000) Coupling between phytodetritus deposition and the small-sized benthic biota in the deep Arabian Sea: analyses of biogenic sediment compounds. Deep-Sea Research II 47:2805-2833
- Pfannkuche O, Thiel H (1987) Meiobenthic stocks and benthic activity on the NE-Svalbard shelf and in the Nansen Basin. Polar Biology 7:253-266
- Piepenburg D (2000) Arctic brittle stars (Echinodermata: Ophiuroidea). Oceanography Marine Biology Annual Review 38:189-256
- Piepenburg D (2005) Recent research on Arctic benthos: common notions need to be revised. Polar Biology 28:733-755
- Piepenburg D, Ambrose WG, Brandt A, Renaud PE, Ahrens MJ, Jensen P (1997a) Benthic community patterns reflect water column processes in the Northeast Water polynya (Greenland). Journal of Marine Systems 10:467-482
- Piepenburg D, Ambrose WGJ, Brandt A, Renaud PE, Ahrens MJ, Jensen P (1997b) Benthic community patterns reflect water column processes in the Northeast polynya (Greenland). Journal Of Marine Systems 10:467-482
- Piepenburg D, Blackburn TH, Vondorrien CF, Gutt J, Hall POJ, Hulth S, Kendall MA, Opalinski KW, Rachor E, Schmid MK (1995) Partitioning Of Benthic Community Respiration In The Arctic (Northwestern Barents Sea). Marine Ecology Progress Series 118:199-213
- Piepenburg D, Brandt A, von Juterzenka K, Mayer M, Schnack K, Seiler D, Witte U, Spindler M (2001) Patterns and determinants of the distribution and structure of benthic faunal assemblages in the northern North Atlantic. In: Schäfer P, Ritzrau W, Schlüter M, Thiede J (eds) The Northern North Atlantic: A Changing Environment. SpringerVerlag, Berlin, p 179-198
- Pirtle-Levy R, Grebmeier JM, Cooper LW, Larsen IL, DiTullio GR (in press) Seasonal variation of chlorophyll a in Arctic sediments implies long persistence of plant pigments. Deep-Sea Research II
- Polyakova YI (2003) Diatom assemblages in surface sediments of the Kara Sea (Siberian Arctic) and their relationship to oceanological conditions. In: Stein R, Fahl K, Futterer DK, Galimov AM, Stepanets OV (eds) Siberian river run-off in the Kara Sea: Characterisation, quantification, variability and environmental significance, Vol 6. Elsevier, Amsterdam, p 375-399
- Porra RJ, Pfundel EE, Engel N (1997) Metabolism and function of photosynthetic pigments.
 In: Jeffrey SW, Mantoura RFC, Wright SW (eds) Phytoplankton pigments in oceanography. UNESCO, Paris, France, p 85-126
- Poutanen E-L, Nikkilä K (2001) Carotenoid Pigments as Tracers of Cyanobacterial Blooms in Recent and Postglacial Sediments of the Baltic Sea. Ambio 30:179-183
- Rachold V, Eiken H, Gordeev VV, Grigoriev MN, Hubberten H-W, Lisitzin AP, Shevchenko VP, Schirrmeister L (2004) Modern and Terrigenous Organic Carbon Input to the Arctic Ocean. In: Stein R, Macdonald RW (eds) The Organic Carbon Cycle in the Arctic Ocean. Springer, Berlin, p 33-55
- Rat'kova TN, Wassmann P (2002) Seasonal variation and spatial distribution of phyto- and protozooplankton in the central Barents Sea. Journal Of Marine Systems 38:47-75

- Reigstad M, Wassmann P, Riser CW, Øygarden S, Rey F (2002) Variations in hydrography, nutrients and chlorophyll a in the marginal ice-zone and the central Barents Sea. Journal of Marine Systems 38:9-29
- Reimnitz E, Clayton JR, Kempema EW, Payne JR, Weber WS (1993) Interaction of rising frazil with suspended particles: tank experiments with applications to nature. Cold Regions Science and Technology 21:117-135
- Riaux-Gobin C, Klein B, Duchêne J-C (2000) A pigment analysis of feeding modes of *Thelepus extensus* (Polychaeta, Terebellidae) in relation to wave exposure at the Îles Kerguelen. Antarctic Science 12:52-63
- Richardson TL, Jackson GA (2007) Small Phytoplankton and Carbon Export from the Surface Ocean. Science 315:838-840
- Rowe GT (1983) Biomass and production of the deep-sea macrobenthos. In: Rowe GT (ed) The sea, Vol 8: Deep-Sea Biology. Wiley Interscience, New York, p 97-121
- Rowe GT, Borland GS, Escobar Briones EG, Cruz-Kaegi ME, Newton A, Piepenburg D, Walsh I, Deming J (1997) Sediment community biomass and respiration in the Northeast Water Polynya, Greenland: a numerical simulation of benthic lander and spade corer data. Journal of Marine Systems 10:497-515
- Rysgaard S, Nielsen TG (2006) Carbon cycling in a high-arctic marine ecosystem Young Sound, NE Greenland. Progress in Oceanography 71:426-445
- Rysgaard S, Thamdrup B, Risgaard-Petersen N, Fossing H, Berg P, Christensen JP, Dalsgaard T (1998) Seasonal carbon and nutrient mineralization in a high Arctic coastal marine sediment, Young Sound, Northeast Greenland. Marine Ecology Progress Series 175:261-276
- Sakshaug E (2004) Primary and Secondary Production in the Arctic Seas. In: Stein R, Macdonald RW (eds) The Arctic Carbon Cycle in the Arctic Ocean. Springer, Berlin, p 57-81
- Sakshaug E, Slagstad D (1992) Sea ice: effects on primary productivity in the Barents Sea. Atmosphere Ocean 30:579-591
- Sancetta C (1981) Diatoms as hydrographic tracers: Example from Bering Sea Sediment. Science 211:279-281
- Savidge G, Priddle J, Gilpin LC, Bathmann U, Murphy EJ, Owens NJP, Pollard RT, Turner DR, Veth C, Boyd P (1996) An assessment of the role of the marginal ice zone in the carbon cycle of the Southern Ocean. Antarctic Science 8:349-358
- Schewe I, Soltwedel T (2003) Benthic response to ice-edge-induced particle flux in the Arctic Ocean. Polar Biology 26:610-620
- Schmid MK, Piepenburg D, Golikov AA, von Juterzenka K, Petryashov VV, Spindler M (2006) Trophic pathways and carbon flux patterns in the Laptev Sea. Progress in Oceanography 71:314-330
- Schulte S, Rostek F, Bard E, Rullkötter J, Marchal O (1999) Variations of oxygen-minimum and primary productivity recorded in sediments of Arabian Sea. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 173:205-221
- Smith CR (1986) Nekton fall, low-intensity disturbance and community structure of infaunal benthos in the deep sea. Journal of Marine Research 44:567-600
- Smith CR, Mincks S, DeMaster DJ (in press) The FOODBANCS Project: Introduction and sinking fluxes of organic carbon, chlorophyll-a and phytodetritus on the western Antarctic Peninsula continental shelf. Deep-Sea Research II
- Smith WOJ, Gosselin M, Legendre L, Wallace DWR, Daly KL, Kattner G (1997) New production in the Northeast Water Polynya. Journal of Marine Systems 10:199-209
- Soltwedel T, Schewe I (1998) Activity and biomass of the small benthic biota under permanent ice-coverage in the central Arctic Ocean. Polar Biology 19:52-62

- Soma Y, Tanaka A, Soma M, Kawai T (2001) 2.8 million years of phytoplankton history in Lake Baikal recorded by the residual photosynthetic pigments in its sediment core. Geochemical Journal 35:377-383
- Somero GN, Siebenaller JF, Hochachka PW (1983) Biochemical and physiology adaptations of deep-sea animals. In: Rowe GT (ed) The sea, Vol 8: Deep-Sea Biology. Wiley Interscience, New York, p 261-330
- Spooner N., Keely B. J., and Maxwell J. R. (1994) Biologically mediated defunctionalization of chlorophyll in the aquatic environment I: Senescence/decay of the diatom Phaeodactilum tricornutum. Organic Geochemistry 22:773–780
- Squier AH, Hodgson DA, Keely BJ (2003) Pigment biomarkers from sediments of an Antarctic Lake spanning a subglacial period. Abstracts of Papers of the American Chemical Society 225:U924-U924
- Stein R (1996) Organic-carbon and carbonate distribution in Eurasian continental margin and Arctic Ocean deep-sea surface sediments: sources and pathways. Ber Polarforscher 212:243-267
- Stein R, Dittmers, Fahl K, Kraus M, Matthiessen J, Niessen F, Pirrung M, Polyakova Y, Schoster F, Steinke T, Fütterer DK (2004) Arctic (palaeo) river discharge and environmental change: evidence from the Holocene Kara Sea sedimentary record. Quaternary Science Reviews 23:1485-1511
- Stein R, Macdonald RW (2004) Organic Carbon Budget: Arctic Ocean vs. Global Ocean. In: Stein R, Macdonald RW (eds) The Organic Carbon Cycle in the Arctic Ocean. Springer, Berlin, p 315-322
- Stirling I (1981) Polynyas in the Canadian Arctic. Canadian Wildlife Service, Ottawa, Ontario, Occasional Paper 45
- Suess E (1980) Particulate organic carbon flux in the oceans surface productivity and oxygen utillization. Nature 288:260-265
- Sun MY, Aller RC, Lee C (1991) Early diagenesis of chlorophyll-a in Long Island Sound sediments: A measure of carbon flux and particle reworking. Journal of Marine Research 49:379-401
- Sun MY, Aller RC, Lee C (1994) Spatial and temporal distributions of sedimentary chloropigments as indicators of benthic processes in Long Island Sound. Journal of Marine Research 52:149-176
- Syvertsen EE (1991) Ice algae in the Barents Sea: types of assemblages, origin, fate and role in the ice-edge bloom. Polar Research 10:277-288
- Tamelander T, Reigstad M, Hop H, Carroll ML, Wassmann P (2007) Pelagic and sympagic contribution of organic matter to zooplankton and vertical export in the Barents Sea marginal ice zone. Deep-Sea Research II, special volume on the Barents Sea Cabanera project
- Thomsen L, Graf G, von Jutterzenka K, Witte U (1995) An in situ experiment to investigate the depletion of seston above the interface feeder field on the continental slope of the western Barents Sea. Marine Ecology Progress Series 123:298-300
- Tremblay JE, Gratton Y, Fauchot J, Price NM (2002) Climatic and oceanic forcing of new, net, and diatom production in the North Water. Deep-Sea Research II: Topical studies in oceanography 49:4927-4946
- Vandieken V, Nickel M, Jørgensen BB (2006) Carbon mineralization in Arctic sediments northeast of Svalbard: Mn(IV) and Fe(III) reduction as the most important anaerobic respiratory pathways. Marine Ecology Progress Series 322:15-27
- Vidussi F, Roy S, Lovejoy C, Gammelgaard M, Thomsen H, Booth B, Tremblay JE, Mostajir B (2004) Spatial and temporal variability of the phytoplankton community structure

in the North Water Polynya, investigated using pigment biomarkers. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 61:2038-2052

- Villanueva J, Hastings DW (2000) A century-scale record of the preservation of chlorophyll and its transformation products in anoxic sediments. Geochimica Et Cosmochimica Acta 64:2281-2294
- von Quillfeldt CH (1997) Distribution of diatoms in the Northeast Water Polynya, Greenland. Journal of Marine Systems 10:211-240
- von Quillfeldt CH, Ambrose WG, Clough LM (2003) High number of diatom species in firstyear ice from the Chukchi Sea. Polar Biology 26:806-818
- Wadhams P (1986) The ice cover. In: Urdel BGH (ed) The Nordic Seas. Springer Verlag, Berlin, p 21-84
- Wassmann P (1991) Dynamics of primary production and sedimentation in shallow fjords and polls of western Norway. Oceanography and Marine Biology: An Annual Review 29:87-154
- Wassmann P, Andreassen I, Reigstad M, Slagstad D (1996) Pelagic-benthic coupling in the Nordic Seas: The role of episodic events. Marine Ecology-Pubblicazioni Della Stazione Zoologica Di Napoli I 17:447-471
- Wassmann P, Ratkova T, Reigstad M (2005) The contribution of single and colonial cells of *Phaeocystis pouchetii* to spring and summer blooms in the north-eastern North Atlantic. Harmful Algae 4:823-840
- Wassmann P, Reigstad M, Haug T, Rudels B, Carroll ML, Hop H, Gabrielsen GW, Falk-Petersen S, Denisenko SG, Arashkevich E, Slagstad D, Pavlova O (2006) Food webs and carbon flux in the Barents Sea. Progress in Oceanography 71:232-287
- Wassmann P, Slagstad D (1993) Seosonal and interannual dynamics of carbon flux in the Barents Sea: a model approach. Polar Research 13:363-372
- Welch HE, Siferd T, Bruecher P (1997) Marine zooplanktonic and benthic community respiration rates at Resolute, Canadian high Arctic. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science 54:999-1005
- Werner I (2000) Faecal pellet production by Arctic under-ice amphipods transfer of organic matter through the ice/water interface. Hydrobiologia 426:86-96
- Wexels Riser C, Wassmann P, Reigstad M, Seuthe L (in press) Vertical flux regulation by zooplankton in the northern Barents Sea during Arctic spring. Deep-Sea Research II
- Wheeler PA, Gosselin M, Sherr E, Thibault D, Kirchman DL, Benner R, Whitledge TE (1996) Active cycling of organic carbon in the central Arctic Ocean. Nature 380:697-699
- Witte U, Wenzhöfer F, Sommer S, Boetius A, Heinz P, Aberle N, Sand M, Cremer A, Abraham W-R, Jørgensen BB, Pfannkuche O (2003) In situ experimental evidence of the fate of a phytodetritus pulse at the abyssal sea floor. Nature 424:763-766
- Wright SW, Jeffrey SW, Mantoura RFC, Llewellyn CA, Bjornland T, Repeta D, Welschmeyer N (1991) Improved HPLC method for analysis of chlorophylls and carotenoids from marine phytoplankton. Marine Ecology Progress Series 77:183-196
- Wu P, Wood R, Stott P (2005) Human influence on increasing Arctic river discharges. Geophysical Research Letters 32:L02703
- Zhao MX, Eglinton G, Haslett SK, Jordan RW, Sarnthein M, Zhang ZH (2000) Marine and terrestrial biomarker records for the last 35,000 years at ODP site 658C off NW Africa. Organic Geochemistry 31:919-930

Appendices 7-9

Appendix 7a: Chromatogram and PDA absorbance: CASES summer 2004, station 718, sediment depth 1-2 cm.

Note that peaks of area >1% are identified in the PDA chromatogram by numbers. Their PDA spectrums at 438 nm are presented below the chromatogram, and their identification and area is presented in the table on the right of the chromatogram.



Appendix 7b: Chromatogram and PDA absorbance: CASES fall 2003, station 100, sediment depth 0-1 cm.

Peaks are identified in the PDA chromatogram by numbers. Their PDA spectrums at 438 nm are presented below the chromatogram, and their identification and area is presented in the table on the right of the chromatogram.



2

Appendix 8: Absorption spectrum of pigments studied.

Spectrums identified on the PDA (438 nm) from single runs of standards (DHI, Denmark), with the exception of phaeophytin b (standard prepared in the lab by acidification of chlorophyll b) and phaeophorbide b and CCE (only identified in samples, and quantified with RF of similar pigment).





Appendix 9: Comparison of absorption spectrum between standard and sample for selected pigments

